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Nick Carter was interested in what was taking place before him. The two men in the third vault were
talking violently in French, and in another instant they were engaged in a desperate struggle.
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DEAD GUARDIAN OF MILLIONS;

OR,

Nick Carter Uncovers a Mystery.

Edited by CHICKERING CARTER.

CHAPTER I
THE CHARM OF MIRIAM LEE.

“Miriam Lee, eh?” murmured Nick Carter, not at all
conscious of the fact that he uttered the name aloud:;
but Chick, who sat opposite him at the breakfast table,
looked up and smiled.

“What about Miriam Lee, Nick?” he asked.

The detective folded the letter he had been reading
and replaced it in the envelope.

“Did | speak the name aloud ?” he asked, smiling back
at his assistant.

“It sounded very much like it.”

“Then | have already betrayed the confidence she re-
posed in me, for she asks me please not to mention the
fact that she has written to me until after 1 have seen
her.”

“l don't suppose, really, that I was included in that
prohibition, was 1? That is, | don’t suppose she intended
to include your official family, did she ?”

“The letter sounds very much as if that is precisely
what she did intend. However, | believe | should have
told you about it, anyhow.”

“Is it the Miriam Lee, Nick?”

“Yes. The Miriam Lee, no less, as your friend, Mike
Finnigan, would say.”

“Isn’t she supposed to be the richest unmarried woman
in New York?”

“1 think, Chick, that she is the richest woman in New
York, married or single; and | have heard, also, that
she is among the most charming.”

“Have you never seen her ?’

“Not to my knowledge.”

“She is quite young, isn’'t she?”

“Somewhere around thirty, | imagine, although that is
pure guesswork on my part. She may be several years
younger than that.”

“What has happened to her? Has she been robbed?”

“She doesn’t say. She merely requests that | call upon
her at her home this morning at eleven, if | can make it
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entirely convenient to do so, and if not, will | be so good
as to send her a line by messenger, stating when 1 will
oblige her. And she adds: ‘I will regard it as a favor if
you will not mention this request of mine to any person,
at least until after our interview.””

“Depend upon it, then, she has lost a necklace of dia-
monds, or a box of jewels, or———- 7

“l don’'t think so,” Nick interrupted.

“l was about to add that in the end, one of the serv-
ants would be found guilty, and all that. She enjoins you
to secrecy because of her distaste for notoriety; eh?”

“l don’t think so.”

“Eh? Why not?”

“1 know something about Miriam Lee, although | have
never to my knowledge seen her. | knew her father. |
had two or three important cases for him before | found
you, Chick, out in Nevada.”

“That was a good while ago.”

“It doesn't seem so long ago, when | stop to think
about it. OlIld Burleigh Lee, her father, was a strange
character. He married late in life, and was a very old
man when | knew him.”

“Tell me about him. It may refresh your memory
when you go to call upon the daughter.”

“He was an eccentric old chap, and nobody could even
make a guess as to the number of millions he owned*
He had his fingers knuckle deep in every financial trans-
action of any importance. He was never known to bor-
row money in the street or at a bank, and it was rumored
that he always kept anywhere from one to ten millions
dollars in cash, in his house.”

"Nonsense, Nick!”

"I'm not so sure that it was nonsense, lad. As | have
said, he married late in life, and lost his wife when
Miriam was born. | think | was mistaken just now about
her age, Chick. She cannot be much more than twenty-
five. | know because she had just come of age at the
time of her father’s death, and that was approximately
four years ago.”

“And | suppose she inherited the entire fortune, eh?”

Nick Carter smiled across the table at his assistant.

“l can quote his will word for word,” he said. “It
created quite a sensation at the time. He drew it him-
self, and it was witnessed by two bankers who were
personal friends of his—that is, as nearly personal friends
as he ever permitted himself to have.”

“What was it?”

“This: ‘I, Burleigh Lee, hereby declare this to be my
last will and testament. | give, devise, and bequeath
all the property of any description that | die owning,
to my daughter, Miriam Lee, and | hereby appoint my
said daughter, Miriam Lee, sole executor of this will,
without bonds.” That was all there was of the will, but it
was enough. The attestation clause followed, of course,
which the witnesses signed in his presence and in the

presence of each other. You see, there were thousands
of persons who believed that they would know something
about the old man’s affairs after his death—but he fooled
them.”

“And | suppose his daughter has kept on fooling them
ever since, eh?”

“She has merely kept silent, that is all.”

“But somebody has had to attend to his immense hold-
ings for her.”

“1 believe that she has done it all herself. Her power is
felt in the ‘Street’ now and then, in a quiet way, but not
in the way that the old man used his. She never moves
only to protect herself—and then she does it with an
iron hand.”

“And all this, | suppose, is what leads you to think
that her letter refers to something of vastly more im-
portance than the mere loss of jewels.”

“Yes.”

“l don’t even know where she lives. Nick.”

“She has always remained in the great mansion erected
by her father years ago, on Washington Heights, when
that section of the city was out in the country. It is a
quaint old place, | have been told; more like a fortress
than a mansion, and it stands in the middle of a large
tract of land upon which the city has thus far never been
permitted to encroach.”

“You will know more about it when you return from
making your call, eh?”

“1 hope to do so, certainly. | think I will have out
the Peerless, Chick, and go up there in that.”

“Shall I act as chauffeur for you?”

The detective hesitated a moment before he replied,
and then he said:

“Yes, Chick; | think you may.”

And thus it happened that at precisely eleven o’clock,
Nick Carter was ushered into the presence of Miriam
Lee, popularly supposed to be the richest woman in New
York.

She received him in a small room in one wing of the
house which opened off from the library; a room which
was entirely isolated from the rest of the house; a room
to which there was no entrance save the one from the
library, and where the windows were protected by heavy
steel bars, as if the place were a safe-deposit vault.

Nick noticed in the instant of passing through the
short entry from the library, that the doors were double,
and that those which communicated directly with the
room itself were made like the doors of a vault, and he
had no doubt at that moment that they were also pro-
vided with combination, or even time-locks.

They were concealed by heavy plush curtains at the
moment.of his entrance, but his keen eyes were accus-
tomed to seeing beyond such things—that is, to reading
cause from effect, and hence his conclusion, which he
later discovered to be correct.
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Chick, of course, remained outside on the highway,
in the Peerless, waiting.

It was the butler who admitted the detective to the
mansion, and he conducted Nick in person to the pres-
ence of his mistress.

Miriam Lee rose from a revolving-chair at a huge,
square, mahogany desk, and came forward with extended
hand as he entered.

“It is very kind of you to respond so promptly to my
note, Mr. Carter,” she said. “lI do not think we have
met before, although | have seen you several times in my
father’s office. Will you select any chair which appeals
to you?”

“Thank you,” replied the detective. “Really, Miss Lee,
| don’'t remember to have seen you at the office of your
father.”

She smiled brightly, and in that smile Nick understood
why Miriam Lee was described as charming rather than
beautiful.

“l said that | had seen you,” she said. “I think there
were two or three occasions, possibly more, when you
were there, that | was in the inner office. | suppose
you will pardon me after all these years for having taken
the opportunity to peek, as we used to say when chil-
dren.” And she went on rapidly, without giving him
time to reply: “So you see | feel as if we were already
acquainted.”

“It is a very great pleasure to me to know that you do
feel so, Miss Lee.”

“There is still another reason, Mr. Carter, why | should
class you as a friend, even.”

“Indeed? May | ask what it is?”

“One of the last injunctions given to me by my father
was this: ‘Miriam, if the time ever comes when you must
take any person into your confidence, or when you need
the aid of a man’s strength of will and purpose, go to
Nick Carter. He is the only man | know, of whom I can
say that, my daughter.’”

For a moment Nick did not speak, and there was abso-
lute silence in the room. Then, with more emotion in
his voice than his best friends would have believed he
would reveal on any occasion, he replied:

“l shall never ask for higher praise, Miss Lee. It is
the voice of a man four years in the grave that speaks
to me through his daughter. Let us hope that I may
always deserve his high opinion.”

She saw that he was greatly moved, and she started
from her chair, crossed the room, and opened a cabinet,
from which she returned with a box of cigars in her
hand.

“You will be very much more comfortable and at
home, if you smoke, I know,” she said. “There is wine
in the cabinet also, if you care for it? No? Now, if
you will draw your chair up to the fire —it is chilly out-

side, isn't it?—so; thank you.
comfortable and cozy.”

“You have certainly made me very pleasantly wel-
come,” replied Nick, smiling, and noting at the same time
the warm chestnut glow of her hair.

She had selected a low seat for herself, and had drawn
it quite close to the fire that burned in the grate, for al-
though it was in the last week of March the weather
was still cold; and now she rested her chin on her hand
and looked up at him smilingly.

“1 suppose you are wondering all this time why | asked
you to come here,” she said.

“To tell you the truth,” he replied, “I don’t think it
has occurred to me to wonder about it at all.”

“l hope, then, that your time is not limited. | hope
that you have no other immediate engagement, Mr.
Carter?”

"I am entirely at your disposal so long as you desire my
presence, Miss Lee.”

“It is very good of you to say that, for it will take me
a long time to tell you all that | wish to impart. Per-
haps the entire day. Possibly we may not have finished
then, and you will have to return to-morrow, and the
next day, and many days thereafter. What do you say
to that?”

“Precisely what | have already said.
your disposal.”

“My father was not mistaken. He believed that the
time would come when | would need somebody, and he
knew that you would be that person. Mr. Carter, | am
literally enveloped in a mystery with which | can no
longer contend alone. That is why | sent for you.”

Now we shall be quite

I am entirely at

CHAPTER 1.

THE CONTENTS OF THE THIRD VAULT.

The detective flicked the ashes from his cigar upon
the red-hot coals in the grate, and then he replied:

“One might almost suppose that we were in the first
pages of an exciting novel. It begins quite like a ro-
mance, doesn’t it? And that reminds me that there is
one person who is connected with this interview in rather
an abstract way, who doubtless sees no romance about it.”

“And who is that, pray?” demanded Miriam.

“My chief assistant, who acted as chauffeur in bringing
me here. Will you permit me to send him away before
we begin on the mystery? If | remember correctly the
wind has a chill about it out there.”

“By all means. Send him away at once.”

“And at what time shall 1 direct him to return for
me?”

“Tell him not to return at all. When the time comes
for you to go I will send you home in one of my own
cars.”

She left her low chair long enough to press an electric
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button, and then returned to it. In a moment the old
butler appeared.

“Harrison,” she said, “there is a man outside in charge
of an automobile. This gentleman wishes you to take a
message to him.”

“Just say,” added Nick, “that he is to return home

and wait there for further orders, by telephone. That
will do. Thank you, Harrison.”

The butler disappeared, and Nick added:

“That is an interesting old chap, Miss Lee. | suppose

he has been in the family a ~reat deal longer than you
have; eh?”

“Yes, indeed. Harrison served my father when they
were both boys. | have no idea how old he is, for that
is a secret of his own that he never reveals. But he is
always faithful, and in many respects apparently as
young and as spry as ever.”

“And now, Miss Lee, shall we get down .to the mys-
tery?” asked Nick.

Miriam had resumed her former attitude, and instead
of replying to his question directly, she raised her eyes
to his, and asked:

“Have you any idea what sort of room you are in
at this moment, Mr. Carter?”

“1 strongly suspect,” replied the detective, “that it is
just such a room as safe-deposit vaults are made of.”

She nodded her head in the affirmative, and continued:

“My father never told you about it, of course?”

“Never.”

“This room, Mr. Carter, has been made as fire-proof,
as burglar-proof, and as bomb-proof as combined steel
and stone and cement could render it; and yet it does
not bear that appearance to a casual observer.”

“No, it does not; but you must remember that it is a
part of my business to be a close observer. And again,
| always suspected that such a room existed in this
house.”

“Mr. Carter, I am about to reveal to you a secret
which has never been shared by another than my father
and myself. |--——- "

“What! Do you mean to tell me that even old Harri-
son is not in the secret?”

“He is not, much as that statement may astonish you.
He knows that this room exists, of course, and he is
aware of its character; but he knows nothing whatever of
the secrets connected with it. That is what | mean.
The men who built this wing of the house and what is be-
neath it, were brought here by my father from all parts
of the world, and each from a different part. When the
work of one man was finished, he was sent home, and an-
other, from a different quarter of the globe took his place.
He in turn was replaced by another, and each particular
set of craftsmen worked in rotation, if 1 may use the
term as applied to them. You comprehend the result?”

“Partly.”

“The result was that when this part of the building was
finished there was not even an artisan in the world who
knew what it was. It was my father’'s hobby. He told
me that it cost him more than half a million dollars, and
that he got more pleasure out of that half a million than
from any dollars he had ever owned.”

“But all this does not bring us to the mystery, Miss
Lee.”

“Yes, it does— presently. | am coming to that; but I
must lead you up to it by easy stages.”

“You mean that you do not intend to spoil a good
story by an anticlimax,” said 'the detective.

“l mean nothing of the sort. But you must follow
me in my own way. It has been a great struggle for me
to bring myself to the point of taking you into my con-
fidence. | have been a long time thinking about it.
Yesterday | reached a point of sending the note to you—
and to-day, twio seconds before you entered at that door,
I had decided to send your away again with an apology.”

“You changed your mind very suddenly, then—in two
seconds,” said Nick.

“l changed it the instant I sawr you. The moment
your hand touched mine | realized that | had done right
in summoning you. When you entered at the door, it
seemed to me almost as if my father came into the room
with you.”

“l perceive,” said the detective gravely, “that this is
really a very solemn occasion for you, Miss Lee.”

“It is, indeed!” she replied; and for an instant there
was a suspicion of tears in her gold-brown eyes.

They were both silent for some moments after that,
but presently Miriam continued as if there had been no
hiatus:

“Before we have done with this day’s conference, I
shall close and lock that door by which you entered.
Next, | shall close the great doors of cast-steel, which
really shut this wing off from the rest of the house.
Those doors are like the great doors of a bank-vault.
If there is any difference, these are the stronger.”

“l noticed that they were there,” said Nick.

“You did?”

“Rather let me say that | suspected it.”

“1 shall close them and lock them, for the mechanism
of those doors can be worked from the inside as well
as from outside. Next, | shall, one by one, close the
three windows. Now, they appear like ordinary windows
— from outside the house at least—but when closed they
are as impervious as those steel doors that | just de-
scribed to you.”

“That, at least, is something that I did not suspect,”
murmured the detective.

“There are many things connected with this wing
which you could not suspect,” she replied.

“l am beginning to realize that.”

“When that is done, we will stand together in a verita-
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ble tomb— you will know later why I call it a veritable
tomb. There will be four feet of steel, and stone, and
cement between us and the outside world, and then, and
then only, can | reveal to you the secrets of this wing
of the house, which it is necessary that you should know
in order to aid me.”

“Whenever you are ready, Miss Lee.”

“Oh, it will be hours before | shall be ready to do that.
| have much to tell you first.”

“May | ask you how you obtain ventilation in this
room when everything is closed as you describe?” asked
the detective.

“The ventilation is perfect. That is all that | need
say on that point for the present, for | intend to show
you the plans later.”

“Then, having closed and, in effect, sealed the room,
your next step will be to take me to the vaults beneath
this room, | suppose?”

“Yes; and you did well to use the plural just then,
for there are two of them, one under the other.” She
hesitated a moment, and then added slowly:

“In fact, there are three, but we need not mention
the third at present.”

“Why not?”

“Because it has nothing whatever to do with the rea-
sons for your presence here.”

“How do you know that?” insisted the detective. “It
may have everything to do with them; the more so be-
cause you do not suspect it.”

She shook her head.

“No; it is impossible,” she said.

“Remember,” said Nick, “that as yet you have given
me no idea of the mystery itself.”

“1 remember.
Mr. Carter?”

“Certainly not. You are much too sensible a woman to
ask such a question.”

“Then most assuredly that third vault can have noth-
ing to do with the mysteries of this house.”

You do not believe in ghosts, do you,

“Being still in ignorance of the causes----- ” began the
detective, but she interrupted as if she had not heard him,
and continued:

“The body of my father rests in the third vault.”

“What!” exclaimed the detective, half starting to his
feet, and then sinking back again. “I thought----- "

‘You thought that it rested in the mausoleum at Wood-
lawn, did you not?”

“Yes.”

“It was there— for a time. You remember doubtless—
but possibly you did not know'—that the body of my

father was most perfectly embalmed. The highest art
which that science has attained was applied to his remains,

with the result that even now, after four years, he looks
as if he were sleeping.”

“Do you mean to tell me, Miss Lee, that you visit it?”
demanded Nick, somewhat shortly.

“Once a year—yes,” she replied calmly.

“You are a most remarkable young woman.”

“It is necessary that | should do so in order to carry
out his wishes, as I promised him | wmild do.”

“There is just one discrepancy here, if you will permit
me to say so, which | would like you to explain, Miss
Lee,” said the detective.

“Yes? What is that?”

“You have given me to understand that you and your
father were the only living persons who were aware of
the secrets of this wing. He being dead, that leaves
you alone as the possessor of those secrets. | happen to
know that the body of your father was deposited in the
magnificent mausoleum he had built for himself and
you at Woodlawn. Now, how could you possibly have
taken that body from the mausoleum, have transferred it
to this house, and finally have deposited it in what you
are pleased to call the third vault under this room, with-
out the knowledge and assistance of others?”

“It is a long story, Mr. Carter. | will not weary you
with detail, but | will give you the substance.”

“If you please.”

“When my father had the mausoleum built he made
arrangements with the authorities of the place that after
a specified time they should assist in its removal secretly
from the mausoleum to his yacht. He led them to under-
stand that it was his wish that he should be buried
secretly far out at sea. When this was done, | was, of
course, in charge of the yacht. | was carrying out my
father’s wishes, and | did as he had directed. | had in
my employ at that time a Hindu ayah, or maid servant,
who had the misfortune to be blind, but who was other-
wise efficient. Need | say more? Only a little.

“The casket was taken to the cabin of the yacht, and
left there. The curtains were drawn. Two days later,
when the casket was buried in the ocean, it did not con-
tain the body of my father. That remained locked in his
own stateroom aboard the yacht. Later it was brought
to this house so secretly that even old Harrison did not
suspect. | did not require much help once | had the
body in this room, but what little I did require, the ayah
gave me. Later, | settled a small fortune on her, and
sent her back to India.”

“1 think,” said the detective quietly “that | begin to
see a glimmer of light about your mystery, even before
you tell me what that mystery is.”

“You refer to the ayah, | suppose, but you will dismiss
that idea when you have heard what the mystery is,”
said Miriam. “You have no idea yet concerning that.”
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CHAPTER III.
THE MYSTERY.

“It is true,” continued Miriam, “that the entire mys-
tery has to do with the strange desire of my father’s
that his body should finally rest in a vault which he
had prepared for it, beneath this room where we are
now seated; but the mystery itself—that which you are
called here to assist me to explain—is something of which
the ayah could not possibly have had any knowledge.

“In as few words as possible, now, | will explain.

“My father did not begin life as a poor boy; he in-
herited a fortune with which to begin a business career,
and his aptitude in finances was so great that before he
was thirty years old he was worth many millions, and
was steadily increasing his wealth.

“He was fifty-five years old when | was bom, and a
very rich man. My mother died at my birth, and | at
once became the pivot upon which every act of my father’s
revolved.

“He vowed then that he would continue to make money
all his life, and that as long as he lived he would every
year put aside one million dollars in cash for me. Do
you understand that? One million dollars in cash was to
be actually put aside each year for me.”

“Yes,” replied the detective. “And he died at the age
of seventy-six.”

“Precisely.”

“So that at the time of his death he had already saved
twenty-one million dollars.”

“Yes; now wait. At the time of his death he was
worth such a vast fortune outside of this sum that he
had saved for me, that it was his hobby, and in fact his
command, that the practise of putting aside a million
dollars a year should be continued after his death.”

“Qut of the fortune he left to you ?”

“Yes; from the principal, if necessary. | was to put
one million dollars in cash with the other savings each
year until the whole amount should have become fifty
millions.”

“In other words you were to continue the practise dur-
ing twenty-nine years after his death.”

“Yes.”

“Or until you were fifty years old yourself.”

“Exactly.”

“Well?”

“He wished more than that, to become a silent guardian
over the vast accumulation of money.”

“l understand now. That is why he directed that his
body should be brought back here.”

“That is it, Mr, Carter; and that is the reason why,
once each year, | enter what | have described as the
‘third vault.” That is where his body lies, and that is
where | deposit the million dollars in cash.”

“1 begin to see things more clearly now, Miss Lee.”

“The anniversary of my father's death occurred just

one month ago. He had been dead four years at that
time, and consequently at that time | made my fourth
annual visit to the tomb of my father.”

“Well 7

“You must understand that on the occasion of my first
visit to the place, after | had placed his body there, | did
not linger. | merely made my deposit and hurried out
again.”

“l can appreciate that.”

“On the second occasion | was less timorous, although
even then | scarcely looked around me. | deposited my
package in the niche assigned to it and turned away,
only lingering long enough for one glance at his face,
which, as | have said, is as perfectly preserved as though
he were sleeping.

“When | made the third visit, with my third package,
| looked around me a bit more, and | had the uneasy
sensation that things had been disturbed; that things
had been moved; that some other than myself had visited
the place.”

“What?” exclaimed the detective.

“Wait—wait, please.”

“Well?”

“1 was not at all sure, and | had not the courage at the
time to investigate thoroughly. More than that, 1 be-
lieved the thought to be one of utter folly. It was sim-
ply out of the question. It was all my imagination.”

“How could it have been anything else than your im-
agination ?”

“You shall hear in a moment.”

“Go on, please.”

“l was so startled by the thought that | started to
run from the vault; but as soon as | was outside the
door | reproved myself for my fears, and returned.”

“You did?”

“Yes. However,| did not really enter the vault again.
I merely stood in the doorway and carefully studied the
interior of the vault, which you must understand | had
never done before.”

“Yes.” .

“1 made up my mind right then and there that when I
visited the place one year later | would be so familiar wuth
the place that | would be able to tell at once if anything
had been disturbed.”

“1 understand.”

“1 remained there in that doorway for possibly half an
hour, and when | turned away from it | possessed in my
mind’s eye a perfect photograph of the interior of the
vault.”

“In order that you would be able to recognize every
spot in it the next time you should visit it.”

“Precisely.”

“And your next visit to that one took place just a
month ago?”

“Just one month ago; yes.”
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“What did you discover then 7

“1 discovered that three of the packages of one million
dollars each were missing.”

The detective started to his feet in amazement.

“Is it possible?” he exclaimed.

“It does not seem possible, but it is true,” she replied.

“It is entirely— utterly amazing. Are you sure that
you were not mistaken?”

“l am as positive of the truth of what | state as that
we are sitting here together discussing it.”

“But might it not be that the three packages you
missed had never been placed there at all ?”

“That might be the case— indeed, | would have been
inclined to suppose it to be, were it not for the fact
that one of the three missing packages was one that |
had taken to the vault myself; the first one that | took
there.”

“The whole thing seems incomprehensible.”

“It is incomprehensible, unaccountable—but it is the
fact.”

“What did you do when you made the discovery?”

“l ran from the place as quickly as | could.”

“And have not returned to it since?”

“On the contrary, | did return to it almost at once.
Within ten minutes. | only waited long enough to re-
cover my courage—and | did not go ten feet from the
door all the time | was outside the third vault.”

“And then----- ”

“Then | had sufficiently calmed myself to be cool and
collected. 1 forced myself to study the interior of the
place thoroughly and carefully.”

“Well?”

“You must understand, in the first place, that when my
father created that place, he placed fifty receptacles for
the fifty packages there. These receptacles are steel
boxes plated inside and out with silver to prevent corro-
sion. Each one is provided with a swinging door at the
front, and the doors are supposed to be sealed----- "

“With what?”

“Merely with big red seals such as are used on legal
documents.”

“Paper seals, in other words?”

“Yes. Locks were not supposed to be necessary in such
a place.”

“l should say not.”

“Well, the doors of the receptacles remain unsealed
until packages are placed in them.”

“And then you merely wet the seal and place it across
the jam of the little door?”

“Yes, Mr. Carter.”

“Now, jvhat did you discover when you returned to
examine the place coolly?”

“That almost every seal in the place had been care-
fully and dexterously cut through, as if some person had
made a careful selection of which package to take first,

and also that every package that | examined—and |
looked at many of them— that all but one that | examined
at that time had been moved in its place.”

“How could you tell that?”

“By the fact that my father being extremely methodical
in everything he did, labeled each package as he de-
posited it. The labels bear the year and number, etc.
Then, when he placed them in their places, he did it as
carefully as you would arrange books on a shelf, with
the titles at the top.”

“Do you mean that some of them had been changed?”

“Nearly all of them had been changed. Some had
been thrust back into their places with the label at the
opposite end ; others were on their sides ; still others were
upside down. It looked as if some person had ransacked
the place, as | said a moment ago, as if selecting the
most available package to take away.”

“Still, there should be no choice.”

“There is none.”

“Each contains a million dollars in cash, does it not?”

“Exactly a million dollars in cash.”

“And there could be very little gold used?”

“There is no gold there at all.”

“Tell me what sort of money it is, please.”

“Treasury notes of the United States, and Bank of
England notes. They represent the two countries which
my father believed would exist through many generations,
without change.”

“l see. And therefore their notes would always be
redeemable in gold.”

“Yes, sir.”

“You say that three of the packages were missing T’

“Yes.”

“Three million dollars?”

“Yes.”

“And that one of the missing packages was one that
you had deposited there yourself?"

“Yes; the first one.”

“Miss Lee, | hope that | will not offend you if I
ask some very direct questions? Possibly impertinent
ones.”

“Not at all. 1 have asked you to come here to help

me. | mean to make use of all the assistance you can
give me in every sense of the word. But | can already
anticipate the first question you would ask.”

“It is: Do you ever walk in your sleep? Are you a
somnambulist ?”

“That is the question | would ask. | can truthfully
reply no. And even if it were so, it would be impossible
for me to enter this room where we are now, in my
sleep.”

“Why so?”

“Because that steel door there, which communicates
between this room and the entry which leads to the
library, is provided with a time-lock which | always set
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myself when | close this room. | could not reenter it
myself, sleeping or waking, until the time had rolled the
tumblers of the lock around.”

“That is quite true.”

“So you see at once that the sleep-walking theory has
nothing to do with the case.”

“Yes,” replied the detective, “I see that very plainly.”

CHAPTER 1V.
BALKED AT EVERY POINT.

“There is, of course, only one solution to this prob-
lem, and we must search for it,” said the detective, after
a pause, during which both had been thinking deeply.

“You mean that there is a secret entrance to that vault
from the outside, which | know nothing about, do you
not?”

“Yes.”

“l have thought of that— but that, too, is impossible.”

“Excuse me. It may be improbable if you like, but it
is not impossible. Your father might have arranged such
a place without your knowledge.”

“lI will admit that you are right—from your stand-
point ; but it is impossible from mine.”

“Why so0?”

“Because | knew my father as nobody else in the world
knew him. If he had caused such a place to be made—
if he had arranged for a secret entrance to the vaults
through that particular one—he would not have died
and left me unaware of it.”

“Was he thoroughly in his right mind up to the time
of his death?”

“Entirely so, until almost his last breath.”

“And did he know that he was about to die?”

“For almost twenty four hours before the end came.”

“You were with him all that time?”

“Every moment of it; and we were alone together,
moreover. He knew that his end was near, and he would
have no one else near him but me.”

“But during those last hours you talked of these
things ?”

“Yes; over and over again, until he was satisfied that
he had covered every point.”

“There may have been listeners.
overheard."

“That, too, is impossible.”

“How is it impossible?”

“He died in this room.”

“AhI”

“We were alone together here until the end; and the
steel door was closed. You can see for yourself that it
would be utterly impossible for any person to hide in
the room, and you can also understand that if you were
outside it, with the door closed, you could not hear a
gunshot from the interior."

You may have been

“That seems to be quite true.”

“And even had there been listeners, what would it
have availed them since he did not refer to any secret
entrance ?”

“It merely would have informed them of the vast
amount of money contained in the vault; and in four
years— three, rather— it might not be impossible that an
entrance could have been made from the outside.”

"Pardon me, but it is quite impossible.”

“Again, why?”

“Mr. Carter, | have already told you that this small
wing of the house cost more than a million dollars.”

“Yes.”

“Let me in a word or two, before you examine the
plans, give you an idea of its construction.”

“Well?”

“The ceiling of this room is twelve feet high; that of
the vault beneath it is ten feet, and that of the subvault
is eight feet. That makes thirty feet.”

“Yes.”

“The ‘third vault,” as | have named it, might be said
to be a wing extending off to the south from the sub-
vault, and that is nothing more nor less than a steel box,
surrounded by stone and cement. It is itself six feet
high, eight feet wide, and it extends into the earth from
the main vault, fourteen feet. Do you follow me?”

“Perfectly.”

“Now, if you first excavated space in the earth to re-
ceive such a huge box as the two vaults underneath this
room would make, and then made a box of the dimen-
sions required, and made it of chilled steel twenty-four
inches thick and lowered it into the excavation, you would
have exactly what exists under us at this moment.

“You would have to add to it, of course, the additional
excavation to receive the third vault, which you would
lower to the level with the subvault.”

“Yes.”

“Having placed that in position, you would then lower
this huge steel box into position beside the other.

“This great box would fit perfectly with the smaller
one at the bottom, so that when they were lowered into
place they would fit exactly together.”

“Yes; | understand.”

“Now, having placed your two boxes in position, and
having connected the subvault with the third vault by
means of a very remarkable door, which | will show to
you presently, you next build around the whole a wall
of granite and cement which hardens into stone—and
this wall is also two feet thick all the way around and
over the top of the third vault.”

“It is marvelous.”

“And so you see that any person who sought to create
a separate entrance to the third vault would be obliged
to pierce two feet of granite and two more feet of har-
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veyized steel before it could be accomplished. |
that it is impossible.”

“It certainly would appear so.”

“And, moreover, it would have to be done eighteen
feet or more below the surface of the ground. The mere
suggestion of such a thing is absurd on the face of it.”

“And yet the packages have disappeared.”

“And yet the packages have disappeared— yes.”

“Your arguments seem unanswerable, Miss Lee.”

“They are unanswerable. That is the terror of it;
for the entire affair amounts to a terror to me.”

“l must return to my original statement, that there
can be but one explanation.”

Miriam shrugged her shoulders with some impatience.

“Your father must have made a secret entrance to the
third vault and have forgotten or neglected to tell you
about it.”

“If you had known my father as | knew him, you
would not even suggest such a thing.”

“You did not take the packages out of the vault your-
self, did you?”

“No,” she replied calmly, and smiling. “That is a per-
fectly natural question, too. | have even caught myself
asking myself that very question.”

“What is contained in the vault that is directly beneath
this room and in the one directly beneath that one?”

say

“Money, securities, stocks, bonds; valuables of all de-
scriptions. | am a much richer woman than the world
supposes, Mr. Carter.”

“l can certainly believe that.”

“My father was a miser who made wealth so rapidly
that he could spend like a prince and still hoard his
wealth— as he always did. When he died, | promised
to carry out that one hobby of his, of putting aside the
million each year. | distinctly declined to go on with
and to continue his other operations, although he wished
me to do that, also.”

“Such immense wealth must be a great care to you,
Miss Lee.”

“On the contrary, I do not permit it to be a care.
When anything of the kind troubles me, | simply turn it
into cash and store it away below where we are seated.
It ceases to bother me in that way; and thus | am
gradually withdrawing from business.”

“When you want any cash, you merely go below and
get it.”

“Yes. And | have long since ceased to keep account
of what | take away from the hoard. It is a foolish and
a useless task.”

“Suppose that you had married with all this hoarded
wealth here in your house----- "

“Believe me, Mr. Carter, no thought of my wealth
or of anything that concerns it has kept me from be-
coming a wife. | have not yet seen the man | wished to
marry— and there are more millions down there than an

ordinary spendthrift could dispose of in a lifetime, even
if I allowed him two or three a year.”

She smiled and looked up at him brightly.

“It is hateful, isn’t it, all this talk of money?”

“1 think it is rather interesting; that is, the manner in
which you talk about it.”

“How is that?”

“You refer to it as if it were an art collection, or one
of rare coins, or tapestries.”

“And that is precisely how I regard it.”

“Now that we have given our minds a little rest, let
us return to the subject that .interests us.”

“Yes.”

“You stated that on two occasions before this last one
it seemed to you that something in the vault had been
moved; that you were impressed with that idea when
you entered it.”

“It was on the third visit | made to the vault after the
death of my father that | received that impression, and
| carefully studied the appearance of everything there
so that | could not possibly be mistaken when 1 should
return to it again.”

“Tell me, what is there in the vault that could have
been moved so that you would notice the fact at all?”

“Merely the small doors that | have described, that
close the receptacles for the packages of money.”

“You mean, then, that you thought that the positions
of some of them had been changed?”

“Yes; they did not look the same.”

“And yet it was an entire year since you had seen
them.”

“That is true. But when one visits a place of that
sort, even only once in a year, it makes an impression
on the brain which is not soon eliminated.”

“1 should imagine that it might indeed do that.”

“1 thought, too, that one of the boxes had been moved
a little—one of the top ones.”

“Ah, then they are detachable?”

“Oh, yes. They are placed one upon another, in
tiers.”

“And one of them seemed to be out of position?”

“1 thought so. | thought it had been in perfect posi-
tion when | saw it last; but, you see, I was not sure—
not at that time.”

“Yes.”

“1 left it just as it was; that is, out of position.”

“Well?”

“When 1| visited the vault a month ago, it had been
carefully replaced where it belonged.”

“My dear young lady, this is altogether the most as-
tounding tale that | ever listened to. One might be
forgiven for supposing you had lost your senses with the
possession of all this wealth, and the dread necessity of
visiting the body of your father once each year.”

“Quite so,” she answered quietly. “Only | have not.
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And it is all quite true, as you shall see for yourself.
That is one reason why | hesitated to send for you.”

“Eh? Because you feared that | might think you had
gone mad?”

“No-0; | did not exactly fear it. | think I am alto-
gether too sane for anybody to suspect such a thing seri-
ously. What | did fear was that you might make that
an excuse for declining to enter upon an investigation
with me. And yet, what have we to investigate?”

“It seems to me that there are a great many things to
investigate.”

“Mr. Carter, | have fought off the desire to send for
you for a whole month. | argued to myself that I did
not care about the millions that were stolen, not if all
that are in that particular vault were taken, for | could
spare them and never miss them at all. But all the
time there was the feeling that my father’s burial-place
was being desecrated, and that the one great wish of his
life was being placed at naught. Then | remembered
what he had said about you and I decided. And now,”
she added, rising, “if you think you are prepared for it,
we will close this room and pay a visit to the vaults.”

CHAPTER V.

A STRANGE FATHER.

“Before we undertake that,” said the detective, “just a
few more apparently idle questions, if you don't mind.”

“Certainly,” she replied, reseating herself. “What
more can | tell you before we descend to the vaults?”

“For one thing, why would it not have been easy for
you to have deposited the entire fifty millions —or,
rather, the necessary amount to make up that sum— at
once in the third vault, and to have closed it until such
time as you were directed to open it?”

“There is only one reply to that.
father directed me to do.”

“He wished you to make that deposit annually, not-
withstanding the fact that you had ample funds on hand
to have done it at once?”

“Yes. He wished to feel that even in death he was
receiving a million dollars a year.”

“l understand. You really took the money to him.”

“Exactly that.”

“And he wanted to know that he would be there to
receive it.”

“That was precisely his idea. He had been so long
associated with the idea of making money that he dreaded
to abandon it even in death.”

“And so he planned this extraordinary affair.”

“And so he planned it exactly as | have told it to you.
He made every plan himself, even to the smallest detail;
and | wish you to understand, Mr. Carter, that in carry-
ing out his wishes there has never been a moment in the
actual consummation of them when | have not had the

It is not what my

feeling that he was at my elbow, watching me to see
that |1 did it all as he directed.”

“You loved your father, Miss Lee?”

Tears came into her eyes as she replied:

“l adored him, Mr. Carter.”

“And his love for you— —"

“Amounted to idolatry. When | tell you that | have
not the least doubt that he would have abandoned all his
riches and have pauperized himself had it been necessary
for my welfare, you can understand how dearly he loved
me.”

“There was great sympathy between you always?”

“So great that we could frequently tell what the other
was thinking about without speaking.”

“l have heard of such a condition existing between a
mother and child,” said Nick musingly, “but never before
as between a father and child.”

“It was true in the case of my father and me.”

“Tell me something of the daily life as passed between
your father and yourself.”

She regarded him for a moment in astonishment, and
then quietly asked:

“Will you tell me why you make that request?”

“Yes. | make it because | believe there may be some-
thing in the psychological effect of this case which will
assist us.”

“1 don’t think | understand you.”

“And | do not know that I can make myself perfectly
understood on the point. However, | will try.”

“Please.”

“Where two minds are thoroughly en rapport, there ex-
ists an affinity between them which permit one to become
cognizant of facts known to the other, without being
told of them.”

“You mean something like what | just said, about our
knowing each other’s thoughts?”

“Yes.”

“And that possibly, at some time, he might have pos-
sessed certain knowledge which he never told to me,
but which I nevertheless knew about.”

“Yes; knew about it without realizing that you did
know about it.”

“1 am afraid that that is too deep for me.
fully material, Mr. Carter.”

| am dread-

“It is all the better that you are, for our purposes.”

“l suppose that in reality you are referring again to
that idea of yours that he had a secret entrance to his
tomb made, and that he never told me about it.”

“Yes; that is true.”

“And you mean to say that this psychological effect,
as you call it, would make me conscious of it, although |
never really knew anything about it?”

“Something like that. It isn’'t very plain, I know, but
that is .about what I mean.”

“But it is absurd, you know.”
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“Granted. Still, it is no more absurd than that a man
should walk into that vault without doors, and carry
away three million dollars.”

She bowed her head.

“That is quite true,” she said. “Still, how can | tell
you something that I do not know ?”

“l don’t know that you can tell me.- | have only asked
you to tell me something of the daily life that passed
between your father and yourself, in order that | may
find in what you relate to me a something, however frail,
to stand upon in the researches | shall have to make in
this affair before it is completed.”

She shook her head sadly.

“Don’t misunderstand me,” she said. “l am perfectly
willing to tell you all—everything that concerned my
father and me, from the time | was bom to the day of
his death; but 1 do wish that | understood better what
you mean.”

“Possibly it will become more clear as we jprogress.”

“Very well. Tell me what you wish to know.”

“1 want to know, first, the history of one ordinary day
in the life of yourself and your father. How it began,
what happened during the day, how it ended—and, in
fact, all about it. Then, from what you tell me, | shall
find questions to ask of you.”

“O h !1!
“That will not be difficult, will it?’
“Not at all. Let me see. We were like school children

in one thing; our favorite day was Saturday. That was
because it was a short day.”

“Yes.”

“Frequently he did not go to his office at all on that
day, but even if he did so, he never remained very long.
We breakfasted usually at eight, and he started for his
office immediately afterward, always telling me what
time to expect him home. If the day was pleasant, |
usually rode through the park accompanied by a groom,
always careful to return at the time | expected my
father. We frequently met at the door, we were both so
punctual.”

“That was the training of his life.”

“Yes; and it has been the training of mine. Well, we
lunched together after that, and then sometimes we went
out and sometimes we remained in the house, but we al-
ways passed that day together. He never permitted busi-
ness to interfere with his devoting that day to me. Then
we dined, of course, sometimes out, sometimes at home.
In the evening we usually played a game of chess. Why,
Mr. Carter, | see nothing in that to assist you in any
way.”

“Nor do I—at present.”

“Well, all our days were as nearly like that as we could
make them. Of course, there were social duties that in
terfered somewhat, but we always fought rather shy of
them. 1 think that is really all the idea | can give you.”

“But what did you talk about during these many hours
you passed together?”

“Everything under the sun, | think.”

“His business, for example?”

She looked up at the detective quickly.

“Mr. Carter,” she said, “have you ever heard how the
sons of kings are taught kingship and statecraft from
the cradle?”

“Often.”

“Well, I was taught finance from the cradle. 1 im-
bibed it as | grew in stature and years. | don't think that
| ever realized that | was being taught. | was as familiar
with my father’s affairs as he was, almost. We discussed
them as partners in business might have done.”

“That is interesting. You were fond of it, were you?”

“Very. We always devoted an hour to his affairs
each evening before retiring. He frequently asked my
advice about his business matters—or pretended to do
so.™

“1 have no doubt that he did it quite seriously.”

“Oh, | know that he did toward the end of his life.”

“And of course you often discussed this project of re-
moving his body from the mausoleum to the vault beneath
us?”

“During the last few years of his life— yes.”

“Do you remember the first occasion when he broached
the subject?”

“Perfectly well.”

“Tell me in what manner he introduced it.”

“Why, in his usual manner. He began by saying that
he wished me to carry on, after his death, the habit he had
had of laying by in that secret vault one million dollars
each year.”

“You have not told me before that the third vault is a
secret vault.”

“Have | not? It is secret only in this way: That if
you were now in the subvault, you might examine the
walls of it with the greatest care and you would still
have no idea that there was a third vault connected with
it.”

“Well?”

“He told me then of the arrangement he had made in
regard to having his body removed from the mausoleum,
and that he had led the authorities who would have it
in charge to understand that it was his desire to be buried
at sea, and—but | have already told you that.”

“Yes; and that, | suppose, was the time when he said
that he wished his body brought back here and placed
where it is now?”

“Yes. And he gave me minute instructions at the
time how it should be done.”

“Was the Hindu ayah with you at that time?”

“Yes. We had brought her back from India with us
during one of our trips abroad.”

“Did he include her in his instructions to you ?”’
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“Yes.”

“Because she happened to be blind 7

“Yes. He mentioned that fact.”

“Was that the reason why he engaged her?”

“He did not engage her at all. | did that. | saw her.
She had a kindly face. She was a young woman— thirty,
or so, | should think. She could speak English, and I
took a fancy to her from the first.”

“You also felt some pity for her condition, did you
not ?”’

“Certainly. However, |
devoted to me.”

“l can understand that.”

“And notwithstanding the fact that she was blind she
was in many ways the most useful servant | ever had.”

“Do you happen to know where she is now ?’

“1 have known nothing whatever about her since | bade
her good-by at the steamer to send her home. But I
placed her in charge of a commissionaire who was with
a party. She could easily be traced if you thought it
necessary; although | do not see/how she could possibly
figure in the matter at all.”

“Something figures in it somewhere, and we must try
all things. Now, tell me, did the discussion of this mat-
ter by your father shock you ?”

“Not at all. It was his wish; that was sufficient for
me.

“But was it not unpleasant to you to discuss his proba-
ble death?”

“Unpleasant in one sense, yes; but not as you mean it.
He had accustomed me to the idea of his de&th ever since
I can remember. You must remember that he was an
old man. | had been taught all my life to expect that he
would die long before | should; and | had always prom-
ised him faithfully that | would not grieve for him, nor
mourn for him, but that | would accept the event philo-
sophically. | was not reared like other children.”

“l should say that you were not,” said the detective,
smiling, and he added: “Come, now, we will visit the
vaults.”

liked her, and she became

CHAPTER VI.
THROUGH MANY SECRET DOORS.

They had already talked together more than an hour,
and it was therefore now after noontime, so Miriam asked
the detective if he would not prefer some luncheon be-
fore descending to the vaults.

“No,” he replied; “I would rather go down there with
a clear brain, and luncheon, however light, must perforce
benumb some of the faculties.”

“Very well,” she said. “We will close the doors.”

So the great steel doors, with the time-lock upon one
of them, were, pulled shut and fastened, and the time-
lock itself was for the moment thrown out of gear.

Next, Miriam turned on the electric lights in the room,
and then, pointing toward a silver ball, which hung at
the end of a heavy wire cord, she asked Nick if he would
pull down upon that one while she worked with another.

By doing so, Nick saw a heavy steel blind glide noise-
lessly from between the walls and pass gently across the
face of the window, until it stopped with a slight click;
and while he was operating that one, she had performed
the same service for both of the other windows.

“They are four inches thick, and very heavy and
strong,” she explained. “They are very perfectly bal-
anced in their places so that it is.no effort to move them
in either direction, as you discovered.”

“But how do you move them in the opposite direc-
tion 7’

“Merely by releasing the locks which hold them now.
They glide back of themselves.”

“And how do you release the locks.”

“By pressing upon any one or on all of three silver
knobs that are there in the middle of the room under the
desk. SeeJ

She crossed to the desk and pressed upon one of
the knobs, whereupon the blind that Nick had manipu-
lated slowly glided open again.

“Now, if you will be good enough to close it once
more, Mr. Carter,” she said, smiling.

“The floor on which we stand,” she said to him, when
that was done, “like every other part of this wing of
the building, is of steel, but it is so entirely covered with
rugs that you do not perceive the fact. And now, |
suppose, you are wondering how we are to get into the
depths below.”

“l certainly am. | am fairly good at finding such
things, but | confess that this one would be beyond me.”

“Do you care to make the effort?” she asked, smiling.

“No; | prefer, very much, that you should show me
how it is done.”

“l suppose you have noticed that full-length painting
of my father, in the large frame over there, done when
he was quite a young man? Have you not?’

“1 have noticed it, yes; and wondered if it were a por-
trait of your father.”

“Yes. | think he was twenty-two when it was painted.
The frame, although thickly plated with gold, is really of
steel. If you care to examine it more closely, you will
see that it appears to be set solidly into the wall.”

The detective crossed the room and examined the frame
carefully, and it was as she had said. It seemed, indeed,
to be a part of the wall itself.

When he turned away from the examination, she said:

“Now, if you will observe me, I will show you some-
thing that is interesting.”

“Everything here is interesting,” he replied, as she

crossed the room toward one of the blinds they had
closed over the windows.
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There, in the very middle of the blind, where there was
just a thumb-nail indenture or cut in the steel, she pushed
aside a small slide large enough to admit her hand.

“Come over here,” she said to him, and he followed
her.

“1f you will look into that opening you will see a small
stationary key, which I now turn—so. Next, | pass to
the second blind, and do exactly the same that | have
done with that one—so; and next | pass to the third blind,
and repeat the operation once again—thus. Now, if you
will look behind you at the portrait of my father, please.”

Nick did as directed.

The portrait had swung out as upon hinges into the
room, thus forming a door, beyond which the detective
could see there was a flight of carpeted stairs.

“You see,” said Miriam, restraining him when he would
have stepped forward, “how thoroughly everything has
been done. The way to the vaults cannot possibly be
opened until all three of the blinds are closed, thus ef-
fectually shutting off the possibility of observation. And,
now, those blinds could not possibly be opened again until
after that door is closed.”

“Wonderful!” said Nick.
to ask a question or two.”

“Well, what are they ?”

“How are the vaults below lighted and ventilated ?”

“They are ventilated in the same manner as this room.
I cannot explain it to you more than to assure you that
the. ventilation is perfect at all times. My father em-
ployed some great Frenchman on that part of his crea-
tion.”

“And the lights?”

“The lights,” she replied, “we have to carry in our
hands. This room, as you see, is perfectly lighted by
electricity; but, of course, electricity could not be taken
below, because it would not be prudent to have the vaults
wired. However, in that cabinet over there in that cor-
ner, there is a whole battery of portable lamps, each with
its coil of wire leading to the switchboard. If you will
wait a moment for me, | will light up for you. | have
done it hundreds of times for my father.”

She crossed quickly to the cabinet and secured two of
the standards, each with a cluster of five lights, and with
them descended the stairs, trailing the wires after her as
she proceeded.

“And now it occurs to me

In a moment she was back again, arranging the wires
along the stairway as she came.

And now she took two more clusters in her hands and
descended a second time.

She was gone much longer this time, but at last she
returned, arranging the two more lines of wires as she
came, and as she did the first time.

“Now,” she said, “I have lighted the subvault.”

“But | wished to see the mechanism of that one, also,”
expostulated Nick,

“l can show it to you later, Mr. Carter. | really did
not think of it until 1 was down there with the lights in
my hands. But, come. Will you take one of these
lights, and | will take another?”

“These are genuinely portable lamps, are they not?”

“Yes—dry batteries; they are rather heavy, and will
burn with sixteen-candle power for twelve hours. We
will not need them, but we will take them along.”

She led the way down the stairs then, and presently
the detective found himself in the first vault beneath the
room above.

It was not at all unlike rooms to be found in any safe-
deposit vault, with the one exception, that there were no
locks attached to the safes along the walls. Here locks
were, indeed, unnecessary.

The floor was covered by a heavy rug, and there were
two comfortable chairs and a couch in the room, as well
as a library-table desk with a desk-chair. Altogether it
was a very comfortable and cozy place, considering what
it was and where it was.

“We will not linger here,” said Miriam; and she at
once led the way to a flight of stairs precisely like those
they had already descended, and followed them to the
subvault.

This subvault in appearance was an exact reproduc-
tion of the vault above it, and Nick looked about him in
vain for any sign of a third vault.

Miriam had already been down, of course, and had
placed the two five-light lamps she took with her in
convenient places prepared for them for lighting the
room to the best advantage; and it will be remembered
that she and Nick were each carrying an extra hand-lamp
now.

“We will put our lamps here on the table for the pres-
ent,” she said. “And now, will you take that chair? It
is the one my father always occupied when we were in
this room.”

“l find myself wondering,” said the detective, as he
obeyed her suggestion, and while he regarded her with
undisguised admiration, which, however, had nothing of
offense in it, “how it is that you speak so lightly and so
happily of your father all the time.”

She smiled at him across the table.

“1 understand you,” she said, “although, | think, you
express what you w'ished to say rather imperfectly. But
I will answer you. | speak lightly and happily of him
because that is the way | feel about him and toward him.
He is not dead to me; he is only absent. It is a phil-
osophy that he taught me from a child.”

“Indeed?”

“And whenever | am here— which is really very sel-
dom, for | do not enjoy coming here, even in the light of
what | am about to say— .whenever | am here | feel as if
his very, presence were near me.”
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"And his body is even now just beyond- that wall,”
said the detective, pointing toward the south.

“Yes,” she replied. “I see that you remember your
points of compass. His body is there; but, truthfully,
that is no more to me than a portrait would be. | re-
member that when he told me of his plan to have his
body placed here, | suggested that a good portrait would
serve just as well. | think he was very nearly angry at
me then; but he ended by laughing. We were good
chums always. | miss him dreadfully, but | regard him
as absent, only.”

“It is a beautiful philosophy, after all,” said Nick.

“Yes. Now tell me, do you think you can find the way
into the third vault? You are facing that part of the
wall beyond which it is located.”

“1 have been studying it ever since | have been here,”

replied Nick. X
“With any result?”
“Not as yet.”
“Do you see anv traces of a door?”
“Not’ one.”

“If 1 had not told you that there is another vault
there, would you believe that one existed?”

“No. Particularly if I took the construction of the
building into consideration.”

“Exactly. And yet it is there.”

“It is difficult to believe, is it not?”

“Yes. Do you wish me to show it to you at once, or
do you prefer to test your skill upon it?”

"l think if you are not impatient, that I would like to
look for it a little while.”

“But you do not seem to be searching at all.”

“l imagine that it is not the sort of thing that one
discovers by searching.”

“How, then?”

“By thought. As you say, one would not suspect its
presence at all if one were not told of the fact. Know-
ing that it is there, 1 would like to think out how it can be
found.”

“You shall have all the time you require— all you wish;
but I don’t think you will discover it.”

The furnishings of the room have already been de-
scribed.

Nick, as Miriam had stated, was seated in the chair
which her father had been accustomed to occupy when
they were in that room together; and therefore she was
in the one which had always been regarded as her own.

The two chairs half faced each other, and the one in
which the detective was seated exactly faced the south;
in other words, the wall beyond which the third vault
was located.

He had been in a brown study for a long time, when
happening to raise his eyes he discovered that hers were
fixed upon him with a quizzical smile.

Instantly, for some reason unknown to science or man,

that smile revealed to him that he was what a child at
play would designate as “warm.” That is that the secret
was near at hand.

“It is something about this chair!” he exclaimed, stri-
king one of the arms with his hand.

He fancied that it gave a hollow sound, and he seized
it—and, lo! it moved.

He tried to raise it at the front end, but it held fast.
He made the same attempt at the rear end of the arm,
and it responded to his touch.

He heard Miriam exclaim and he looked again to-
ward the southern wall.

The door to the third vault was slowly swinging out
into the room.

CHAPTER VII.
A DEAD GUARDIAN OF MILLIONS.

“Well done, Mr. Carter!” exclaimed Miriam, rising
and approaching him. “You have given me confidence
in our venture. | begin to think that somehow you will
solve the mystery.”

“Do you think,” asked Nick, “that
means of opening that door myself?”

“Certainly.”

“Unaided?”

“Assuredly.”

“On the contrary.”

“l don’'t understand you.”

“1 was told how to open it.”

“You— were— told?”

“Yes.”

“Nonsense!”

“l was told how to open that door, Miss Lee.”
“May | politely ask who told you?”
:;Toou did.”

I discovered the

“Yes.”

“l am very positive that | did nothing of the sort.”

“You told me as plainly as if you had uttered the
words.’

“May | ask how?”

“With your eyes.”

“You are laughing at me.”

“l assure you that I am not. | had no idea whatever
how to go to work to discover the secret, when, hap-
pening to raise my eyes, they met yours. You were
smiling at me, and your mind was thinking, ‘How close
he is to it all the time, and he never guesses it.””

“As a matter of fact, that is precisely what | was
thinking.”

“Well, did | not say that you told me?”

“But that did not tell you that it was the arm of
the chair— the right arm, the rear end of the right arm—



NEW NICK CARTER WEEKLY. 15

and that you must raise it, turning the chair just a trifle
as you do so.”

“Did | turn the chair? | was not conscious of that.
That part of it was an accident.”

“Whatever you say about it, it is none the less a fact
that ypu accomplished it, and that | am delighted that
you did so. But, come!”

She started toward the open door which led into the
third vault; but Nick reached out a restraining hand
and stopped her.

“Pardon me, Miss Lee," he said. “This time | would
like to take the lead. You don't mind if | do so?”

“Certainly not.”

“l would like you to stay close to me, and -if you will
be so good—carry one of those five-light lamps in your
hand. | will carry the other. 1 want all the light I can
get into that apartment, you know.”

She seized the lamp and approached the door, Nick
in advance.

He paused, however, at the threshold.

The dimensions of the room have already been given.

In the exact middle of it was a platform, or dais, six
feet in length and three feet wide. Upon the platform,
draped with a blanket of woven silver wire, was a ma-
hogany, couch-shaped block, and upon this extraordinary
couch was the lifelike figure of Burleigh Lee.

The sight was startling.

The embalmers had done their work with wonderful
perfection; they had even tinted the features and the
lips in lifelike colors.

Save for the stiffness of the attitude, which nothing
could conceal, the man did look as if he were sleeping.

And in the position, even, some effort had been made
by the embalmers to produce the appearance of life, for
the body was not stretched upon its back, with the hands
crossed over the breast, after the manner and style of
corpses generally.

Instead, it was lying rather on one side, with the face
towrard the door.

The left arm was stretched down along the side of the
body, and the fingers of the left hand were upon the
pages of an open book; the right arm was bent at the
elbow and the hand just missed contact with the face.

Nick turned to Miriam, as he exclaimed:

“It is the most astoundingly lifelike apparition | ever
saw.”

“1 do not know why you use the word apparition,” she
replied.

“Because | could think of no other fit term to apply.”

“You knew my father. Does it not seem as if he were,
indeed, there before us, Mr. Carter?”

“It does; it does, indeed!”

“And, now, do you understand what | mean when |
said that it seemed to me more like a portrait than like
the dead body of my father?”

Wes; | understand you now. There is nothing un-

canny about this.”
.“No.”

“There is something very real about it.”

“No; there is nothing real, either. It is only a pic-
ture.”

He regarded her narrowly for a moment. The per-
fect self-poise of this young woman was a marvel to
him, and he could only explain it by remembering what
she had told him of the life-training she had had.

“And now we must get down to business,” he said
presently.

“Yes.”

“Have you opened this door since you were here a
month ago, when you made the discover}'?”

“No.”

“You have not even been in the vaults since that
time ?”

“No.”

“If you were inside this vault here, and | were to
close the door upon you, is there a,way to open it from
the inside, so that you could get out again ?”

“Yes; certainly.”

“Now', do you remember exactly how everything ap-
peared when you were here one month ago?”

“Perfectly.”

“You studied everything carefully, so you would re
member upon the occasion of another visit?”

“Yes.”

“Look well about you—we will hold the lamps high—
and tell me if you think anything has been moved since
that visit ?”

“1 think not,” she said, after a silence, during which
she obeyed the detective’s request.

“Look carefully.”

“1 have done so. | can see nothing.
to examine the boxes-?— ”

She started forward, but Nick restrained her.

“We have not arrived at that point yet,” he said.

She raised her eyes to his, wonderingly.

“What else is there to do?” she asked.

“That must be determined as we proceed, Miss Lee.”

The lights they held in their hands perfectly lighted
up the room which was called the third vault, and thus
was revealed the entire interior of the strange tomb.

The real floor of the room was, of course, of steel
like the others; but over this had been laid a covering
of tiling. ’

All the furnishings of the place were silver and gold
save that one massive block of mahogany carved into
the shape of a couch; but even that, as has already been
said, u'as draped with a blanket made of small silver
rings woven together.

At the left extremity of the room—Ilooking past the
ftead of- the figure on the couch—and standing with the

It might be well
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back against the wall, wds a massive chair Vhich looked
as if it might have been fashioned of solid gold, although
it was doubtless of some other metal, heavily plated.

In shape and size this article of furniture was an
ideal “bishop’s chair,” such as one always sees in Episco-
palian churches.

Beyond the body, at the southern side of the room,
were the boxes, each of which had been destined one
day to contain a million dollars, or the value thereof
in United States or Bank of England notes.

These were arranged on a succession of shelves, silver
plated, and five in number, and each was just long
enough to hold ten boxes in line.

To the right, that is at the western side of the room,
was a square article of furniture intended to represent
an altar, for there was a kneeling-stool before it, and
this altar was draped with a blanket precisely similar
to the one over the couch, save that the woven wire
rings were of gold instead of silver.

There was nothing whatever upon the altar other than
the blanket.

All this the detective studied with exceeding care.

There was not the slightest doubt in his own mind
that there was a secret entrance to this third vault, either
from some other part of the dead millionaire’s home, or
from elsewhere.

Why the old capitalist at the time he was on his death-
bed had not revealed this secret as well as others to his
daughter, the detective could not guess; but that such
a secret existed and that the old man had either for-
gotten or purposely neglected to describe it to Miriam,
Nick Carter thoroughly believed.

The thing was to find it.

Nick did not for a moment doubt that he could dis-
cover it in time, but he was also convinced that it would
take time to do so.

The very cunning with which the other contrivances
of that strange place had been created, was proof positive
that even greater ingenuity had been exercised on this
room.

It might be that he would have to spend days or even
weeks in the effort to discover that secret entrance, but
that it existed, and that he would find it ultimately, he
knew.

“Look again, Miss Lee,” he said, turning to his com-
panion after another and a longer survey of the room.
“Study carefully everything that you can see and tell
me if you see anything at all which does not appear to
be exactly as you saw it last, a month ago.”

This time she devoted even a longer period to her
inspection, but it ended in the same result. She saw
nothing— nothing at all that could suggest that the room
had been entered since she was there.

“There is nothing,” she said, “absolutely nothing.”

“Then | think that we may enter,” said the detective.

“You are the leader now, Mr. Carter. You must tell
me what to do,” remarked Miriam.

“Very well. 1 will ask you in that case, to stand just
inside the door and between it and the altar, with your
lamp. | will place my lamp for the moment, at least,
in the bishop’s chair.”

When that was done, he crossed to the treasure boxes,
and without touching any of them with his hands, ex-
amined them closely as they were placed on the shelves.

It will be remembered that twenty-five of them, alto-
gether, had received their deposits, and hence, that many
of them had been provided with the large red seals; also
it must not be forgotten that Miriam had described
these to the detective as having been cut by a sharp
instrument in the hands of the vandal who had visited
the place.

“l see but one seal that has not been cut,” said Nick,
after a moment.

“There should be two,” replied Miriam.

“Put your lamp on the altar a moment. Now come
here beside me. In which of the boxes did you place
that last deposit, made a month ago?”

“In this-—-- ” she began, and then started back with
a little cry of amazement and fright.

“The seal has been cut since | was here!”
out.

“1 thought so,” said the detective. “Now open the box
and tell me if its contents are intact.”

She did so with feverish haste, but only to discover
that the box was empty.

she cried

CHAPTER VIII.
A WONDERFUL TREASURE CHAMBER.

Miriam Lee looked at Nick Carter in utter consterna-
tion.

“It is unbelievable!” she exclaimed.

“And yet, nevertheless, it seems true,” replied the de-
tective.

“The very last deposit that I made here is missing.”

“Yes. | think it would be well to discover how much
more than that is missing.”

“There were three of them missing that we knew about
before we came here to-day, and now there is a fourth,”
she said.

“They may all have been taken by this time, Miss
Lee. Let us begin at the beginning and go through the
boxes one hy one.”

She laughed nervously.

“At least there is one of the deposits left,” she said.
“There remains one of the seals that is uncut.” >

“Uncut—yes,” replied the detective, “but not unmo-
lested. Even that box has been opened.”

“How could it have been opened without breaking
the seal?”
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'Tlecause for some reason the seal did not stick well
when it was placed on the box. It came loose at one
side, and the vandal was not obliged to cut it in order
to get into the box.”

“Let us go through them systematically,” she said,
now thoroughly herself again, and as self-possessed as
Nick Carter himself.

“Certainly that is the thing to do.”

And so they began at the beginning; at the first de-
posit made by old Burleigh Lee, and so along the first
line of boxes, checking each off by its number and date
as they proceeded.

The dates on the boxes do not concern us, but if we
take the numbers of the boxes that had already been
filled, from one to twenty-five inclusive, they found that
numbers 10, 14, 18, 22, and 25 were empty.

“You see,” said the detective, when they had com-
pleted the inspection, “five of your boxes have been rifled;
ten, fourteen, eighteen, twenty-two, and twenty-five~
Twenty-five is the last one in which you made a deposit.”

“Yes.”

“Altogether, five million dollars have disappeared.”

“Yes.”

“And while heretofore the thief has waited approxi-
mately a year between each visit, this time he has waited
only a comparatively short time, and has taken two mil-
ions away with him instead of one.”

“Yes.”

“l notice a strange coincidence connected with the
numbers of the boxes that have been rifled,” said Nick.
“That is the coincidence holds good in all save the last
theft.”

“What is that?”

“The thief began with number ten, then he skipped
to fourteen, then to eighteen, and then to twenty-one,
going by fours each time. Now, however, he has con-
tented himself by reducing the number skipped. The
next one rifled is twenty-five.”

“That is true; but what has that to do with it?”

“Probably nothing whatever. It is probably mere
chance.”

“But what does it mean? What can it mean?
could a thief enter here, Mr. Carter 7

“Through a secret passage that was known to your
father and which he neglected tc reveal to you. There
could be no other way. You must acknowledge that
now.”

“But why, zvhy did he not tell me about it?”

“Doubtless he forgot to do so.”

“He was not a man to forget,” she said, shaking her
head. “And even if it were true that there is a secret
entrance to this room from the outside, how would it be
possible for any person to discover it ?’

“That is the question we are here to answer— but there
seems to be only one reply to that, also.”

How
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“Can there be any answer to it at all?”

“Yes; one.”

“What, Mr. Carter? What is it?”

“The return of one or more of the men who were
concerned in the building of this wing for your father.”

“But that is next to impossible. At least, it seems in-
credible.”

“Why does it seem incredible?”

“Because he used so many safeguards to obviate that
very possibility.”

“He has explained those safeguards to you, | sup-
pose ?”

“Yes; in detail, and many times.”

“And you remember them ?”

“Certainly.”

“Let us return, then, to the other room and seat our-
selves there while you tell me about them.”

They did so, and as soon as they were seated, the de-
tective said:

“Now, Miss Lee, tell me as succinctly as you can, all
about those safeguards.”

“1 know----- ”

“First tell me when this wing of the house was built.”

“It was begun four years before my father’s marriage,
and was completed only a few weeks before I was born.”

“And now, tell me what you can about the particu-
lars of the building of it.”

“1 have already told you that he secured artisans from
all parts of the world.”

“Yes.”

“They were secured in sets, or groups— of course this
refers to the time after the heavy part of the work was
done; when the wing had really been built, leaving only
those portions of it which required the delicate work
of the experts to complete.”

“Yes.”

“These artisans were taken on in groups of two, or
three, or four, or five, as the necessity required. To
each man was given a certain duty to perform— some
specific work to do, and when that was done, the man
was liberally paid and sent away.”

“And these groups of men— where were they found,
usually 7’

“They came from all parts of the world; wherever
my father could discover the man who could perform
what he required— and there were never at one time two
men here who came from the same country.”

“1 understand.”

“When there was particular work to be done, such for
example, as arranging the catch of that door and its
mechanism to connect with a spring under the arm of the
chair in which you are seated, that man was brought
here alone.”

“Well, even so——"

“Orie moment. We will say that he arrived on a
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steamer from Europe on a certain day. He was- met at
the steamer by Harrison, who was deeper in my father’s
confidence than any other man.”

“Weil?”

“Harrison would take him to a hotel and keep him
there until night. Then the man would be taken from
the hotel in a closed carriage from which every possi-
bility of his seeing or discovering the route over which
they should travel, was excluded.”

“Yes.”

“That carriage would be driven directly here to the
house. There was at that time a small building outside,
since effaced, into which the carriage was driven. From
that small building to the house there was a covered
way, and the man would be conducted directly to this
wing and shown the work he had to do.”

“Yes.”

“From the moment of his arrival, until his departure,
he never stepped out of doors. He never once knew
where, he was at all, and when he was through with his
part of the work, he was taken away as he came, and
he was not once left alone until the ship, on which he
was to depart, had sailed.”

“And were the groups of tw'os. and threes, and fours,
and fives handled in the same way 7’

“In precisely the same way.”

“Who stood guardian over them?”

“Harrison was always chief guardian. There were as-
sistants, of course, but the responsibility devolved upon
Harrison.”

“Were any other precautions that you have not men-
tioned, taken?”

“Only that the men were kept separated as much as
possible. This was all understood by each of them be-
fore they were engaged, and as my father paid them
exorbitant prices for their labor, they were always ready
to acquiesce in any conditions he chose to make. In-
deed, they\ were obliged to do so, if they desired the
work at all.”

“Anything more 7’

“They ware fined if they talked among themselves,
and they were watched constantly, lest they should do
so, notwithstanding the fines.”

“Well?”

“You must understand that in work such as this it
was rarely that more than two were obliged to labor
together, that is near enough together to do any talking.
| can assure you, Mr. Carter, that my father placed ev-
ery imaginable safeguard about this work.”

“1 do not doubt it.”

“And he spared no expense in his efforts.”

“But who planned all this work? Who was the engi
neer-in-chief? Who was the architect?”

“My father.”

“Whatr

“It is true.”

“Is it possible that he possessed the ability to do that?”

“It was because he did possess the ability that he con -
ceived it in the first place.”

“1 begin to understand better, now.”

“His passion was making money, but his favorite oc-
cupation was mechanics— the finer mechanics. When we
traveled abroad he would spend weeks in Venice, spend-
ing thousands of dollars for privileges to examine the
old palaces of the doges.”

“Yes, yes. Go on.”

“In the vault that is directly beneath the office, there
are boxes there that contain caskets, of workmanship so
ancient that time has forgotten when they were made.
There are curious locks and springs. There are clock-
works of such marvelous workmanship that there is not
living a man to-day who could repair one of them. There
are—but why go on ?”

“And whenever you traveled abroad he passed his time
chiefly in the collections of that sort of thing. Is that
the idea?”

“Yes; and when once he had found something that he
had never seen before, his first occupation, after he had
brought it safely here, was to dissect it; to take it apart,
piece by piece, and put it together again. | have known
him to work years upon one mechanism.”

“So, in reality, every piece of mechanism that is con-
nected with this place was planned by him in person?”

“Not only planned by him, but in effect, executed by
him, also.”

“What do you mean by that?”

“l mean that when there was particularly expert work
to do, he supervised it himself.”

“Do you mean that he remained away from his busi-
ness ?’

“Not at all. He worked nights and attended to his
business during the day, existing on a few hours of
sleep.”

“And the artisan, whom he. had employed on that par-
ticular piece of work—what did he do in the meantime?”

“He remained idle until my father called him to work.”

“Really, Miss Lee, this all sounds like a tale from the
‘Arabian Nights'.”

“To me it is all more remarkable than the
Nights’ ever were, Mr. Carter.”

‘Arabian

CHAPTER IX.

NICK CARTER SETS A TRAP.

“Have you any idea how many men were employed
at different times, upon what we might class as the ex-
pert work?” asked the detective.

“In the office, over our heads, there is a list which
contains the name of every man who ever did any part
of that work. It gives his name, age, place of residence,
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regular occupation, and by whom employed at the time
he was engaged by my father. It recites the time of
his employment, tells the day of his arrival here, and the
day of his departure, and describes exactly what work
he did while he was here.”

“That is excellent. 1 will inspect that list later on. |
think now that we have a clue to work upon.”

“You do?”

“Yes.”

“Will you tell me what it is?”

“Presently. A few more questions first.”

“Yes.”

“You have every faith and belief in old Harrison, have
you 7’

“Almost as much faith as I would have in my own
father were he alive and here to-day. No shadow of
suspicion could fall upon Harrison, Mr. Carter. If he
had any use for a million or two million of dollars, he
could have them at any moment—and he knows it; he
has always known it. Indeed, Mr. Carter, he regards
all this as much his as mine, and he is more like a second
father to me, than a servant.”

“You would even have no hesitation in revealing to
Harrison all that you have shown to me, would you?”

“Not the slightest, save that it was my father’s direc-
tion that these secrets should never be revealed to any
person unless some emergency should require it, and
then only to you.”

For a long time after that the detective remained in
what is termed a brown study, with his eyes staring
through the door into the third vault at the lifelike body
of the dead capitalist.

At last, however, he looked up and met Miriam's eyes
fixed upon him.

“l want you to do me a favor, Miss Lee,” he said,
then.

“You have only to name it, Mr. Carter,” she replied.

“1 want you to help me to remove every one of those
millions from those boxes and to carry them to the room
above this one where we will temporarily deposit them
in some of the strong boxes there. Will you do that?”

For a moment she appeared to hesitate; and then she
replied, frankly, as if she had quite made up her mind:

“Yes; | will do it.”

“Then let us get about it at once.”

A million dollars in paper money makes quite a parcel,
and there were twenty of them to remove. Still, they
did not occupy much time in doing it, and when each
of the packages had been safely deposited in the upper
vault, Miriam inquired:

“And now what are vie to do next, Mr. Carter?”

They had returned to the lower vault then, and Nick
replied by bidding her to be seated, while he busied him-
self for a time in the third vault.

Entering there, he arranged the now empty boxes with

great care. Next he gave his attention for a moment
to the altar, where he busied himself with the cloth of
gold blanket that covered it, and then, having looked
carefully around him, he returned to the outer vault.

“Now, Miss Lee, if you will explain the mechanism
for closing the door, we will ascend to the upper vault.”

She did so at once, and strangely enough, it was per-
formed merely by turning one of the legs of the table,
with the hand, whereupon the door closed as silently as it
had opened, and fitted so perfectly that it left no trace
whatever that it was there.

He led the way then to the upper vault, where he re-
guested her to show him the mechanism of opening the
stairway from there to the vault beneath, which she had
neglected to do when they entered the place, and after
that they ascended to the office where,the electric lights
were still gleaming brightly.

When that was closed, the lights extinguished, and
the blinds opened, Nick turned to Miriam with a smile.

“Do you realize that it is after two o’clock?’ he
asked.

“Is it really?” she exclaimed.
hungry.”

“1 will admit that I am.”

“Then we will have luncheon at once.”

“If you please; and after that | wish you to permit
me to descend to the vaults alone for a few moments.”

“Why alone, Mr. Carter?”

“Because | do not wish that even you should know
what | intend to do there— until later.”

“Very w-ell. It shall be as you say,” she agreed.

Luncheon was disposed of almost in silence, while they
were waited upon by old Harrison, who looked troubled
and worried; and at last, when the meal was finished, he
called his mistress aside.

“Miss Miriam,” he said tremblingly, “there is some
trouble, isn't there? Won't you tell old Harrison what
it is about?”

“You remember Mr. Carter, don't you, Harrison?”
she replied.

“1 remember his name.
before.”

“But you do remember that my father trusted him,
don’t you?”
“Yes, Miss Miriam.”

“Well, Harrison, there is a mystery down-stairs which
| have tried in vain to explain. | have asked Mr. Car-
ter to assist me. That is all. My father told me to call
upon him if ever | should need anybody.”

The old man broke into smiles at once.

“It troubled me,” he said simply, and asked no more
guestions.

When the detective and Miriam had returned to the
office-room over the vaults, she asked:

“You must be very

I don’t think | ever saw him
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“Do you wish to descend to the vaults at once, Mr.
Carter ?’

“No,” he replied. “I wish first to borrow one of your
automobiles for a short trip of ten or fifteen minutes.”

She rang the bell at once and gave the necessary
order.

“And when you return----- " she asked.

“When | return | shall want two white bed-sheets,
and then | shall wish to go to the vaults alone for a few
moments.”

The detective was absent from the house less than a
quarter of an hour, and when he returned he found Mi -
riam awaiting him in the office with the sheets he had
requested of her.

“Now,” he said, “we will close up again, if you don't
mind.”

“1 may sit here in the office and wait for you?”

“Certainly.”

“Will you be long?”

“No. Not long.”

The great steel door was closed; the lights were
turned on; the blinds were drawn, and the portrait-
door thrown open.

“Suppose | should shut you down there and refuse
to release you without the payment of a ransom?” asked
Miriam, with a smile, as he was about to descend.

“1 think 1 could find enough below, to pay it with,”
he replied.

“But that might not be the sort of ransom | would
require,” she said, laughing, this time.

“Then, if 1 could not pay it, 1 would make use of the
secrets you have revealed to me, and come out unaided.”

“But there are some secrets that | have not told
you.”

“What, for instance?”
“l can from here, stop the working of the mechanism
so that you could not return if | chose to prevent it.”

“Well, in that case | suppose | should have to pay
whatever you required. But don't attempt it until after
| have unraveled this mysterious web, will you?”

“No; | do not think I shall try it at all.”

He was half-way down the stairs when she called to
him again.

“Do you know,” she said, “that 1 am devoured by
curiosity to know what you intend doing down there?”

“But you can repress it for a little while, can you
not?”

“1 suppose so.”

“I will tell you all about it later.”

“If you will promise that, faithfully----- "

“l do. You shall accompany me when | go the next
time.”

“Very well. | must be content with that, | suppose.”

The detective had no difficulty in working the mecha-
nism of the vaults with their doors and stairways, and

NEW NICK CARTER WEEKLY.

he was soon standing for the second time in front of the
open third vault.

He had taken down with him both of the five-light
lamps, and to facilitate this Miriam had thrown the sheets
over his shoulders, so he looked a weird figure, indeed.

These lamps he now placed side by side on the floor
inside the third vault, after which he remained for sev-
eral moments, studying the ground, so to speak.

Presently, he took the sheets from his shoulders, and
one by one carefully spread them over the body of the
dead capitalist so that it was completely and thoroughly
covered; that, and the couch, and dais upon which it
rested.

Next, from one of his pockets he produced a spool of
the finest black silk-thread, and then, having arranged
the treasure-boxes just as he wanted them—for he moved
them about just a little, managing to place nearly all of
them so that they could not be opened without first being
moved a trifle—he drew a single strand of the thread
along each one of the tiers of boxes, and fastened them
at either end.

The thread was so fine that a slight touch would
break it; and he drew each strand as tightly as he dared
to do, lest he sever it himself.

The boxes attended to, he approached the altar.

Here, he first wound the thread several times around
the altar itself, and then, by forcing a tack between the
tiling of the floor that has already been described, he
found a way to carry the thread from the altar to either
side of the room; that is, from the altar to the north
side and the south side, respectively.

That accomplished, he went through precisely the
same operation with the bishop's chair, winding the thread
around it in the same manner, and after that, carrying
the thread to either side of the room from the chair.

Next, he turned his attention to the sheet-covered form
in the middle of the room.

Here, he w-ound the thread around the whole, length-
wise, and from it led the thread to each of the four cor-
ners of the room—and it must be remembered that each
thread so stretched was drawn as tightly as it would
bear without breaking.

And now, stepping carefully over each of the threads,
he withdrew to the doorway again, and regarded his work
with a smile.

Then, from another pocket he produced a small bellows
and a package of white powder, very light in quality,
and having filled the bellows with the powder, he again
stepped carefully across the threads he had drawn and
began work with this apparatus.

He dusted the powder around every place near the
altar; he even dusted the top of the altar itself; and

then he passed to the bishop’s chair at the other side of
the room.

From the bishop’s chair to the boxes; from the boxes
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to the sheet-covered form in the middle of the room, he
went with the bellows and powder, until he was as-
sured that he had neglected no spot that he wished to
cover.

And then again he returned to the doorway.

“There,” he murmured, “I am of the opinion that
when the next person enters that room,.that person will
not only leave a decided trace- of his presence behind
him, but he will also indicate quite plainly to me how

- —or, at least, where— he entered the room. There is a

secret entrance here somewhere, and this double trap of
mine ought to point out where it is— provided the thief
should return.”

CHAPTER X
THE THEORY OF THE CRIME.

When the detective returned to the office above, Mi-
riam greeted him with a smile.

“What an unconscionably long time you have been
gone!” she said. “Did you close everything behind you
when you came up?”

“Yes. Everything.”

“And you will not tell me what you did while you
were down there alone ?”

“Yes. | setatrap.”

“A trap?”

“Exactly.”

“What sort of a trap ?”

“A trap to catch the man who has stolen your mil-

* lions.”

“Pish!” she said, “lI care nothing for the money. It
is the desecration of the tomb, and the nullifying of my
father’s wishes that | object to.”

“1 understand that perfectly well.”
“You will not tell me more about what you did down
there?”

“Not at present, Miss Lee. Do you know | have
thought you remarkably superior to most women in ev-
erything, but | find that you possess one weakness of
theirs that is common to all?”

“Curiosity 7

“Yes.”

“It was very kind of you, though, to say that you
thought me superior in other ways.”

“Well, 1 certainly do.”

Miriam was engaged in closing the portrait-door, and
. opening up the office again while they were talking, and
now she asked:

“What is to be done next?”

“l am going to ask you to excuse me for an hour or
two while | return to my home.”

“But you will return here, won’t you?” she exclaimed,
in alarm.

“Yes."
“Before dark?”

“l think so. Early in the evening, at least.”
“You must promise me that you will do so.”
“1 promise.”

“Thank you.”

“While I am gone | wish you would get out and pre-
pare for my inspection that list you described to me;
that list of the workmen who were employed here. Will
you do that?”

“Certainly. It will be ready when you return.”

“And then, whe& | have returned, | think it will he
well if you will go to visit one of your friends for the
night.”

“Do— what?”

“1 would like you to go somewhere and pass the night
with one of your friends.”

“Why, if you please ? Why may | not remain in my
own house?”

“The conventionalities might not approve.”

“l don't think | understand you in the least.”

“1 wish to remain here all night myself.”

“Bother the conventionalities. | shall remain here,
and | will watch with you, too, if you will permit it.”

“1 certainly shall not do that.”

“Why not?”

“Well, there are many reasons. One is that | think
you might tire out before the watching is done.”

“Oh, | have sat up all night, often.”

“This watch may last through a dozen nights, or thirty
nights, or three hundred nights. It may take a year.”

“Do you mean to tell me that you are going to keep
vigil here until this mystery is solved

“l mean exactly that.
me if | can help it.”

“That is very good of you, Mr. Carter, and | thor-
oughly appreciate it; but do you suppose for a moment
that | will consent to remain away from my house all
that time ?”

“No; it occurred to me that you might secure the serv-
ices of a chaperon by to-morrow.”

Miriam threw back her head and laughed aloud; a
merry laugh it was, too.

“Of all the things--——-- ” she said at last. “Pray, what
do | want with chaperons, or what do | care for the
conventionalities, Mr. Carter? They concern me not at
all. Old Harrison has been chaperon for me all my life,
and | think he is competent to fill the bill, still.”

“It shall be as you say, of course.”

“Then hear what | say.”

“Yes.”

“1 shall, wait dinner for you; or, rather, | will order

I never permit anything to beat
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dinner served at any hour that you will name. After
dinner we will go over those lists together, for | think
that possibly I may be of some assistance in that partic-
ular.”

“l regard that as extremely probable.”

“l wish you would tell me what your theory is in re-
gard to that list, Mr. Carter.”

“l have no objection to doing that.”

“Now? Will you tell me, now?”

“Yes.”

“Well, then?”

“In the first place, Miss Lee, skilled hands mean also
skilled brains. Any artisan who is sufficiently skilful to
perform the work that your father assigned to many
of them, is also smart enough to put two and two to-
gether.”

“Yes. Well?”

She was regarding him eagerly while he talked. She
had seated herself in one of the big leather-covered chairs
of the office, and he stood in front of her, prepared to
take his departure.

“You must understand, to begin with, that there ex-
ists not the slightest doubt that there is a secret entrance
to the vaults through what we call the third vault.”

“Yes. | have forced myself to accept that idea.”

“Very well, then, the man who assisted your father
in making that secret entrance and in fashioning the me ¢
chanism to work it, must have been little less than a fool
if he did not understand perfectly well for what it was
intended.”

“Yes.”

“He knew, for example, that he was assisting in the
creation of an outside entrance to a place where some
sort of treasure was to be stored.”

“1 understand you.”

“He also knew that the storehouse was located some-
where in or near the city of New York. He had agreed
to come and go under certain conditions; but you must
remember that he worked with your father, and there-
fore, that he knew Burleigh Lee perfectly well by sight.”

“l see. | see now what you mean.”

“After he had sailed away from here at the expiration
of his labors, there was nothing to prevent his return.
Patience and watching would one day bring him in sight
of the great capitalist with whom he had worked on that
underground passage.”

“Yes, yes.”

“Once he sawTyour father, it would be an easy mat-
ter to trace him to his home. That done, he knew
where the treasure-vaults were located.”

“But you forget that no one man of all of them knew
enough to have worked one of the mechanisms without
aid.”

“No; I do not forget that.
getting at.

That is exactly what | am
You must remember that it is between
twenty and twenty-five years since that man—if | am
correct— was employed here.”

“Well, what does that prove?”

“It proves first that he attempted for a long time to
gain access to the vaults alone and unaided, and that

at last he discovered it to be impossible.”

“Now, | lose you again.”

“What could he do then in order to carrry out his
purpose ? Plainly, there was only one thing that he could
do, and that was to find other workmen who had been
engaged on the building of the vaults.”

“Ah!”

“He realized that he could never accomplish anything
So, he set out to find others of the work-
That

at all alone.
men. We will say that he returned to Europe.

he advertised in every capital of the continent.

“He could have worded such an advertisement so that
only those who really were employed here would under-
stand. Ultimately, if he was patient and persevering,
he would receive an answer or answers. There are a
thousand reasons why that would be so.”

“For instance-----

“A workman returning to his home from such employ-
ment, would talk about it among his acquaintances. He
would in one sense become a hero among them. The
fact of his having had the strange experience would be
known throughout the neighborhood in which he lived.”

“Yes.”

“Somebody among his acquaintances would see that ad-
vertisement. They would report it to him and advise
him to answer it.

“yeg.”

Now do you understand?”

“Suppose, for example, that there were thirty of those
workmen scattered over Europe at the time of the ad
vertisement; the man advertising could safely depend
upon receiving answers from a third of them; don't you
think so?”

“Yes, | should think so.”

“Well, there you are. There is the whole plot.”
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“But why—if | may use a very common expression—
why didn’t they clean out the whole place the first time
they came here, instead of taking only a little?”

“Because, my dear MSss Lee, rogues are rogues, even
among themselves.”

“1 don't, in the least, know what you mean now.”

“Suppose there are three of these conspirators alto-
gether.”

“Well?”

“The master mind among them all, and the one who
takes the lead, is naturally the one who conceived the
project. It is no part of his plan that the others shall
have as much of the loot as himself. He doubtless made
the first visit to the place alone and, having secured
the one million that was taken first, or the two millions,
if they took that much, he returned to his friends and
divided it among them, intending after he had gotten rid
of them all to return and become a master of millions
himself— alone.”

“1 follow you now.”

“But that was not to be. They spent their money, or
frittered it away, or gambled with it, and when it was
gone they returned for more. They took another million.
Now the thing has been repeated, and still more millions
are missing—and | have no doubt that now he has satis-

fied them.

“He has taken the amount of five million dollars —
twenty-five million francs, if they happen to be Swiss, or
French. It is a vast sum. They are probably led to
believe it is all. The master mind among them is at
last satisfied that he has rid himself of the others, and
soon he will return to claim all that remains.”

“And he will find nothing—nothing, because we have

removed it all.”

“Oh, yes, he will find something when he arrives, but
not the millions.”
“What shall he find?”

“He will find me, | hope. If not, I will find him.”
“Do you mean that you think you have discovered

the secret entrance?”

“No; but I have no doubt at all that 1 will find it—
when the time comes.”

“Mr. Carter, what in the world would | have done
without you ?”

“You would have lost twenty-five millions instead of
five, Miss Lee,” said the detective, with a smile; “and |
have hopes, as it is, that you have not lost quite five.”
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CHAPTER XI.
ON GUARD OVER THE THIRD VAULT.

While the detective was riding to his home in Miriam
Lee’s automobile, he was deep in thought over the events
of the day.

Now that he was away from the house and on his way
through the streets of New York in the late afternoon,
all of the romance and the medieval atmosphere of the
affair was taken out of him, and he speedily got down
to hard facts.

He doubted, now that he thought the matter over
calmly, if he had done wisely in setting the trap he did
in the third vault. He began to think that it would have
been wiser to have waited and watched, for years, if
necessary, in order to catch the criminals red-handed.

However, Nick Carter was very much given to stick-
ing to his first impressions, and he resolved that he
would leave the trap as he had set it, at least for a few
days, and that then, if it had not worked at all, that he
would destroy it and resort to the other expedient.

As the matter eventually worked out, he had done the
very wisest thing that could have been done—but he
could not know that just then.

Chick met him at the door when he entered the house,
and was all eagerness to know what had kept his chief
at the Lee mansion so long a time.

“Sorry, Chick, very,” said Nick, in reply to his ques-
tions, “but for the present | cannot tell you anything at
all save that this is the strangest case | ever had.”

And the assistant had to be satisfied with that.

By Miriam Lee’s order, her chauffeur waited for Nick
until he was prepared to return to her house, and a little
after six o’clock they started back again.

The detective had gone to the Lee mansion that morn-
ing unprepared to undertake any extensive researches.
His pockets were not at that time as well provided with
the accessories he usually carried, as they should have
been; that was one reason why he chose to return.

Another was that he wished to tell Chick that he might
be away indefinitely, and that the reply to all inquiries
concerning him was to be merely that he was absent, and
that it was not known when he would return.

Now, having given that direction, and having supplied
himself with everything he thought he might require,
no matter what the emergency should be, he hurried
back to the great house on the hill, for he was as eager
to get at the bottom of the mystery as Miriam herself.
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He found her awaiting him in the library!

“Dinner will be served at once,” she told him, with
her greeting; “and | have those lists all ready for your
inspection. | have looked them over myself.”

“And with what results?”

“1 will tell you that when we look at them together.”

“1 hope you did not put the time-lock on the door for
too long an interval, Miss Lee.”

“l did not put it on at all. 1 could not tell at what
hour you might wish to go into the office again.”

“That is right.”

Dinner was rather a silent affair between the two, for
both were preoccupied.

More than that, they did not care to discuss the mat-
ters that interested them in the presence of the stately
footman who served them, while old Harrison fluttered
around near at hand with a watchful eye for their mu-
tual comfort.

But it came to an end at last, and at once, by common
consent, they took their way in silence toward that mys-
terious wing of the house where so much had happened
and was still to happen.

Old Harrison tottered after them, and at the door he
said:

“Can | be of any service at all, Miss Miriam ?”

“No, thank you, Harrison; not unless you will consent
to retire at once to your own room and take your com-
fort for the rest of the night. You may have the front
gate locked, and tell the porter that nobody is to be ad-
mitted under any pretext, and you may have the mission-
room prepared for Mr. Carter.”

And so Harrison went his way, and Nick Carter and
Miriam were left alone together with their mystery.

Without more ado, they locked themselves inside the
office, and drew the great steel blinds.

“l feel as if | were a deep conspirator,” said Miriam,
as she seated herself at one side of the table and directed
Nick to sit opposite her.

“l have something of that sensation myself,” admitted
the detective. “Among all my cases, Miss Lee, | have
never had one in which | felt such a keen interest as |
do in this.”

“1 must also confess to some enthusiasm about it,” she
replied. “I do not feel as if it were my case.
outsider who is assisting you.”

I am an

“l1 am glad that you do feel that way. Now, what are
these 7

“They are all of the books which relate to the building
of this wing of the house.”

“What! All of these. Great Scott, | haven’t got to
go through all those, have 1?7 *

“Oh, no,” she laughed.
list.”

“Yes.”

“You asked me a moment ago what | had discovered,
or something like it, and | replied that | would tell you
when we came to this room. Well, | have found the
name of the man you want.”

“What?”

“l mean, of course, the name of the man who assisted
in the very last part of the work on the third vault.”

“Only this one. This is the

“There is no mention anywhere, is there, of the secret
entrance to that vault ?”’

“No; but my father seems to have placed some par-
ticular emphasis on what he enters here under the title
of ‘The Last Work On the Small Chamber.””

“That is exactly what we want.”

“Very well. There are three men mentioned, particu-
larly, as engaged on that work.”

“And howTis it that you think you have selected the
very one that | want?”

“Because | selected the one who did the very last work,
and because my father made a note after his name, t0o0.”

“What is that note?
father ?”

“It is very characteristic of my father.
‘This chap is a natural-born scoundrel.
employed him at all.””

That remark made by your

It reads:
I regret that |

“That does seem to indicate something. Now what
is the name of the man?”

“Jean Gevrais.”

“Will you let me take the book, please, and look it

over alone? Thank you. | may smoke?”

“All you please. | told you that this morning.”
“Really, now that I think of it, I don't believe | have
smoked since then.”
“No.

Remain where you are. | will wait upon you.”

For considerably more than an hour after that the
detective remained poring over the list of names con-
tained in the book before him, and he was astounded
by the completeness of its arrangement.

But at last he put it aside and joined Miriam over near
the fire.

‘It is now half-past nine o’clock,” he said to her, as
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he drew the chair forward, and put a flaming match to
a fresh cigar. “When | have finished this cigar I am
‘going below,’” as a sailor would say.”

“And | am going with you,” she replied.

“Certainly, if you desire to do so.”

“Do you think that under the circumstances | could
remain here and wait?”

“Well, no,” he laughed.
hours of acquaintance we have had, | should say that
that would be about the last thing that you could do.
You might, if | tied you.”

And so they laughed and chatted together during the

“Judging you by the few

three-quarters of an hour which Nick occupied in con-
suming the cigar in question.

A few moments later, as they were about to descend
the stairs to the first vault, the detective said to.her:

“Miss Lee, | am about to make an almost impossible
request of you.”

“Indeed! What can it be ?”

“l am going to ask you to utter no word or sound
after we descend to the lower vault.”

“Goodness! Am | as talkative as all that ?”

“No, no, but it is difficult to keep entirely silent when
one is under the influence of excitement, and | can see
that you feel the excitement of this moment.”

“Say rather, exhilaration. It is not excitement so
much as it is keen interest.”

“Very well.

“Certainly.”

“And consent to sit in the dark as well?”

You will keep silent?”

“l place myself entirely under your orders.”

“Then | have one very important order to give you.
It is a precautionary one, but it is vital in case anything
should happen.”

“What is it?”

“You are to sit in the chair where you sat this morn-
ing, and no matter what happens, you are to remain
Do you understand that?”

“Yes, sir; thank you, sir,” she replied mockingly.

there.

“This is no joke, Miss Lee. It is true that we might
remain down there on guard for a year, or for the rest
of our lives without being disturbed—and it is also true
that we may be disturbed before we have been there
three hours.
that something will happen to-night, and | found my-
self doubting the wisdom of taking you with me.”

“Then stop doubting if that is the case.”

| have a feeling— an intuition, | suppose—

“You must not forget, Miss Lee, that if we are dis-
turbed, that if 1 should hear noises, or anything which
will lead me to open that door into the third chamber,
the man, or men, whom | will find there, will be desperate
ones.”

“1 will remember.”

“And you will obey me about keeping in your chair?”

“l have said that | am under your orders. But, Mr.
Carter, you seem to forget one thing.”

“What is that?”

“You talk as if you thought you could hear, in the
lower chamber, any noise, slight noise I mean, that might
occur in the third vault.”

“l can, with this little instrument,” he said, holding
up a tubelike affair that resembled a stethescope. “I
shall lie on my face on the floor near the door, and with
this against the floor at the base of the door, I could
hear the slightest sound that occurred on the opposite

side of it.”

“Really?”

And now the detective enjoined silence, and then de-
scended the second flight of stairs to the lower chamber
or vault.

The detective placed the lights on the table within
reach of Miriam’s hand, and directed her to take the
seat he had occupied that morning. Then he gave her
a code of signals which he made with his tongue.

There were only two of these signals, but they were
important.

One click of his tongue meant that she was to raise
the lever which would open the door into the third vault.
Two clicks of his tongue meant that she was to turn on
the lights.

“Now,” he said to her, in a very low tone, “I shall
stretch myself on the floor against that wall with my
head directly at the spot where the door will swing open
if you work the lever. That is so that I may dodge the
door and allow it to swing past me.”

“l understand.”

“The door works so silently that | doubt if I can hear
it open as near as | will be to it, but you must not fail
to work the lever if you hear the signal.”

“1 will not.”

“And, having worked the lever, you must keep abso-
lutely still, and listen for my other signal for the lights.”

“1 will do so.”

“Then | think we are ready to proceed. It may be a
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long and tedious wait and no doubt you will 'drop asleep
in your----—-
“1 will not drop asleep, sir.”
And so the waiting, which was to be very short, be-
gan.

CHAPTER XII.
UNCOVERING A MYSTERY.

It is a difficult matter to keep anything like an accu-
rate account of time when one is waiting in silence and
in the dark, and hence, Nick Carter had very little idea
how long he had been stretched upon the floor of that
silent chamber with his audiscope held tightly against
his ear, when he was startled by a distinct sound from
the interior of the third vault.

He could not tell what it was, only that it suggested
a suppressed curse; and he thought it wise to listen for a
repetition of it

For several minutes, however, there was no sound
whatever, and then, as suddenly as the first noise had
come to him, he heard the second.

This time there was no mistaking it. It was a curse,
or an exclamation that was very like one.

Instantly after that, there were voices, as if two men
were conversing in low tones, and the detective waited
no Ionger?ﬁ)but instantly drawing back his head and rising
to his feet, he gave the signal for Miriam to open the
door.

Slowly it swung back; slowly and silently; and the
two men who now occupied the third vault and who
stood facing each other as if they were about to leap
at each other’s throats, each with a candle in one hand
and a long and gleaming knife in the other— those two
men had no idea that they had suddenly been uncovered.

They could not hear the door open, and they stood
facing each other so that they could not see that it had
swung backward on its hinges.

But the appearance and aspect of the two men was not
all that was startling about the panorama, for the opening
of the door had also revealed the location of the secret
entrance to the third vault.

It was the altar which had concealed the entrance.

Now, as the detective and Miriam viewed it from the
darkness in which they were concealed, they saw that it
had risen to the ceiling of the chamber, and that it was
supported underneath by a steel shaft around which a
spiral staircase twined through an opening in the floor.

And so we can understand that, even if the detective
had not returned in time to interrupt the scene that was
now taking place, the silk threads he had arranged, and
the powder he spread must have led him ultimately to a
discovery of the secret.

But he gave no thought to that now. He was inter-
ested in what was taking place before him.

The two men who faced each other in the third vault,
were talking violently in French, and as the door swung
open, one of them said to the other:

“You have lied to us. There is a great fortune here.”
“There is not,” was the reply. “I have taken it all.”
“Then why do you return here again 7’

“Because it is my pleasure.”
“There is a great fortune here, | say.”

“There is not.”

“What is contained in those rows of boxes?”

“Nothing at all.” (He did not know that he spoke
truth).

“1 think that you He. What is under that sheet?”

“A corpse. Sacre! That is what startled me when

entered.”

“Was the corpse not here before?”
“Yes; but not the sheet.”

“Again | ask you what is contained in those boxes 7’
“Nothing, I tell you.”

“1 shall have a look myself.”

“Do so, then, and be satisfied.”

The last speaker stepped back as if to permit the other
to pass him to examine the boxes and then, as he did
so, the villain struck him with his knife, and they grap-
pled as they fell to the floor together, each fighting
desperately.

One of them was already severely wounded, but he
fought none the less fiercely, nevertheless.

Just at the instant wifien they fell to the floor, Nick
Carter gave Miriam the signal to turn on the lights,
which she did at once, flooding the place with a light so
brilliant after the intense darkness that it almost blinded
the eyes.

The effect of the illumination upon the two men who
were fighting was remarkable.

Each of them uttered a scream of fright, and each
attempted to tear himself from the grasp of the other,
and to gain his feet.

It was plain, also, that it was their intention to make
for the spiral stairway with all speed.
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But as one of them leaped to his feet, and the other
one— the wounded man— managed to prop himself into
a sitting posture, they saw that a man with a revolver
in either hand barred the way of their escape, for Nick
Carter had leaped into the chamber and had placed him-
self between the two men and the opening in the floor
under the altar.

Just here the wounded man fainted sheer away, but
whether from the effects of his wound, or from terror,
it would be hard to say. At all events, he keeled over
senseless at the feet of his companion.

But the other man—the man upon his feet—the man
who had treacherously stabbed his companion in crime,
was not so easily frightened.

With a snarl of rage, and notwithstanding the revolv-
ers in Nick Carter’'s hands, he leaped toward this new
enemy, hurling himself at the detective’s throat with all
the impetuosity of a wild animal.

Nick did not wish to kill him; neither did he wish
to discharge his revolver in that place—and he had no
fear but that he could easily overcome this man.

He met the attack, therefore, with his foot; that is, he
kicked the man on the wrist when he would have struck
with his knife, and so dashed the weapon from his hands.

Then, releasing the pistols from his grasp—they were
the two small ones that he always carried in his sleeves
when he thought he might have need of them—he seized
the Frenchman in his terrible grasp and dragged him
bodily out into the larger chamber.

There, in spite of the frantic struggles of the fellow,
he held him at arm’s length while he backed him slowly
across the room toward Miriam.

The Frenchman, feeling himself in the grasp of a giant
against whom he had no sort of chance, ceased to strug-
gle and became sullen; and it was then that Nick said
to him quietly:

“You are Jean Gevrais.”

“Sacre! Mon Dieu!” groaned the Frenchman; and
he turned livid to the lips while now, indeed, he almost
fainted. Then he muttered in his own tongue:

“1 have not borne that name in fifteen years.”

“But you are Jean Gevrais ?’

“Yes.”

“And you have robbed this tomb of five million dol-

lars.”
“yas.”

“Where is that money now ? Where is it, | say ?”

“l have almost three millions of it, monsieur; the rest
has been dissipated,” he replied humbly.

“How many men besides yourself have been concerned
in these robberies? Quick! Tell me before I choke you,
Jean Gevrais!”

“Three only. That one there, and two others, mon-
sieur.”

“And where are the others? Quick!”

“One of them is dead. The other is dying of a sick-
ness at the hospital. 1 saw him but to-night, and they
told me he could not live.”

“You poisoned him, Jean Gevrais.

“Mercy! Mercy, monsieur! | poisoned him. Yes.
And | Kkilled the other. | could not find this one. |
wanted all the rest of the wealth for myself. 1 wanted
it, oh, how | wanted itV

Confess!”

“And those millions—almost three— where are they
hidden ?’

“They are there—in the shaft— unless Gustave-----
But no. He followed me here.
them.”

He must have passed

With a quick motion Nick whirled the man around
and threw him on his face on the floor. Then, kneeling
upon him, he manacled him by wrist and ankle so that
he was utterly helpless.

After that he hastened to the other man, who was
slowly recovering consciousness, and directing Miriam
to precede him with the lights, he carried him to the
office-room of the wing.

There he bandaged the man’s wounds as best he could,
and having stopped the bleeding, he placed the fellow
on the couch.

“He will do very well for the present,” he said to
Miriam. “lI don’t think he can live, but whether he does
or not, there is something else for me to do just now.
Will you come with me, or will you remain here, Miss
Lee?”

“l shall go with you. Ueh! I wouldn’t remain here
for all the world! Not at the present moment.”
And so the detective, followed by Miriam, descended

again into the vaults. #

Gevrais had not moved; he was too greatly terrorized
for that. The use of his right name, which he had
abandoned for fifteen years, had thoroughly unnerved
him.

But Nick paid no attention to him whatever. He made
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his way directly to the spiral stairs, directing Miriam
to wait for him where she was.

It was a well-like hole through which the shaft de-
scended, and at a distance of ten feet from the floor of
the vault, it opened upon a gallery which had been ex-
cavated through the solid rock for a considerable dis-
tance, where there was a second spiral stairway around
another shaft, and ascending this, Nick found himself
within the
corner of the grounds.

And here, a stone table, not unlike the altar in the
vault in shape, served precisely Ihe same purpose; and,
being open, it was plainly to be seen how the secret
passage was used, and how the mechanism was worked.

inclosure of a stone summer-house in one

Releasing the spring that held the stone table in the
,air, and allowing it to settle in place, Nick returned to
Miriam, discovering on his way, as Gevrais had said he
would, the three packages of money, one of which had
been despoiled of nearly half.

ABOUT THE EARLY
NUMBERS OF THE

These he carried back with him, and having returned
to the chamber above, he lowered the altar to its place.

Shall we tell you how the man Gustave finally died
of the wound he received from Gevrais? Is it necessary
to state that Gevrais was himself executed for the mur-
der of his three partners in crime? And how the secret
entrance through the summer-house was filled from one
end to the other with cement in order that it might never
be used again ? All these statements would be true.

Nick Carter persuaded Miriam to make no more mil-
lion-dollar deposits in the tomb of the dead, and he per-

suaded her also to seal that tomb forever—and she

persuaded him to accept one of the packages as his fee.

THE END.

The next issue of the Nick Carter W eekiy, NO. 494,
will contain “The Mysterious Treasure Hunters; or,
Nick Carter’s Bargain With a Crook.”

TIP TOP WEEKLY

yT | E receive hundreds of letters every week from readers asking if we can supply the early numbers of Tip Top

I containing Frank’s adventures,
print.

being published in book form in the Medal Library are inclusive of these early numbers.

In every case we are obliged to reply that numbers 1 to 300 are entirely out of
We would like to call the attention of our readers to the fact that the Frank Merriwell Stories now

The first book to appear

was No. 150 entitled “Frank MerriweH’s Schooldays.” We give herewith a complete list of all stories that have been

published in book form up to the time of writing.

We will be glad to send a fine colored catalogue of the Medal

Library which is just filial with good things for boys, upon receipt of a one-cent stamp to cover postage.

MEDAL LIBRARY
No.

150— Frank Merriwell’'s Schooldays.
167— Frank Merriwell’s Chums.

178— Frank Merriwell's Foes.

184— Frank Merriwell’'s Trip West.
189— Frank Merriwell Down South.
193— Frank Merriwell’'s Bravery.
197— Frank Merriwell’s Hunting Tour.
201— Frank Merriwell in Europe.
205— Frank Merriwell at Yale.

209— Frank Merriwell’'s Sports Afield.
213— Frank Merriwell’s Races.

217— Frank Merriwell’s Bicycle Tour.
225— F~ank Merriwell’s Courage.
229— Frank Merriwell’s Daring.

233— Frank Merriwell’'s Athletes.
237— Frank Merriwell’s Skill.

240— Frank Merriwell’s Champions.
244— Frank Merriwell’s Return to Yale.
247— Frank Merriwell’'s Secret.

251— Frank Merriwell’s Danger.

254— Frank Merriwell’s Loyalty.

258— Frank Merriwell in Camp.

262— Frank Merriwell’'s Vacation.
267—Frank Merriwell’'s Cruise.

The Price of the Merriwell Books is Ten

MEDAL, LIBRARY
No.

271— Frank Merriwell’s Chase.

276— Frank Merriwell in Maine.

280— Frank Merriwell’s Struggle.

284— Frank Merriwell’'s First Job.
288— Frank Merriwell’s Opportunity.
292— Frank Merriwell’s Hard Luck.
296— Frank Merriwell’s Protege.

300— Frank Merriwell on the Road.
304— Frank Merriwell’s Own Company.
308— Frank Merriwell’s Fame.

312— Frank Merriwell’'s College Chums.
316— Frank Merriwell’s Problem.

320— Frank Merriwell’s Fortune.

324— Frank Merriwell's New Comedian.
328— Frank Merriwell’s Prosperity.
332— Frank Merriwell’s Stage Hit.
336— Frank Merriwell’s Great Scheme.
340— Frank Merriwell in England.
344— Frank Merriwell on the Boulevards.
348— Frank Merriwell’s Duel.

332— Frank Merriwell’s Double Shot.
356— Frank Merriwell’s Baseball Victories.
359— Frank Merriwell’s Confidence.
362— Frank Merriwell’s Auto.

365— Frank Merriwell’'s Fun.

Cents per Copy. Jit all Newsdealers
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ISSUED EVERY MONDAY.

convinced that you will

HANDSOME COLORED COVER

Ted Strong wants to make your acquaintance, boys, and we are

be proud to have him as a friend.

The

tales of his adventures among the cowboys are full of fascinating

interest.

and
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Ol our libraries and cannot procure them from newsdealers, they can be obtained from this office direct.
ing order blank and send it to us with the price of the books you want and we will send them to you by return mall.

he upholds the title.

He is known to every one as “King of the Wild West”

PRICE FIVE CENTS PER COPY

For sale by all newsdealers, or sent, by the publishers to any address upon receipt of price in money or postage stamps

HERE ARE THE LATEST TITLES:

King of the Wild West's Submarine; or, The
Search for Sunken Treasure.

King of the Wild West's Finish; or. The Great
Stone Door.

King of the Wild West’s Peril; or, The Cannibals
of Tiburon Island.

King of the Wild West's Strange Quest; or, The
White Princess of Sonora.

King of the Wild West's Horsethief; or,
Enigma of Lost Springs.

King of the Wild West's Chase; or, The Rescue
of Yuen Ho.

-King of the Wild West’'s Meteor; or, The Race for
the Klondike Diamond.

King of the Wild West in Siberia; or, Castaway on
the Arctic Ocean.

The
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King of the Wild West's Posse; or, Stella's Own
Vigilance Committee.

King of the Wild West Underground; or, Stella
to the Rescue.

King of the Wild West's Brand; or, How Stella
Held the Fort.

King of the Wild West's Campaign; or, How Stella
Won the Victory.

King of the Wild West's Booty; or, Stella Finds
the Pirate Loot.

King of the Wild West’s Success; or, Stella and the
Marked Bill.

h i—King of the Wild West’s Daring; or, Stella’s Great

112—

King of the Wild West's Haunt; or, Stella's Escape 113—
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King of the Wild West's Key; or, Stella in the
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the “Golden Baby.”
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A GRAND IDEA

€ HE old popular favorite, Frank Memwell, has signalized his triumphant return to the pages
* of TIP TOP, beginning with No. 512, by opening a novel

SCHOOL OF
ATHLETIC DEVELOPMENT

where he has put into practice some clever schemes long entertained, with the idea of building up
the constitutions of backward lads. Here, there has naturally opened up a glorious opportunity
for meeting new characters; while the strange adventures and thrilling situations connected with
up-to-date American sports are handled as only Frank Merriweil knows how.

The famous TIP TOP promises great things from this time on to its world-wide circle of
admirers, and with this novel field open to such a talented pen, you may rest assured, boys, Burt
L. Standish will spread such a feast before you as has never before been dreamed of.

Tell all your young friends that Frank has come back to his own, better equipped than
ever to arouse the interest and enthusiam of his vast army of boy admirers. Consult the catalogue
below for titles.

512— Frank MerriwelPs New ldea; or, The American School of Athletic
Development.

513— Frank MerriwelPs Trouble ; or, Enemies of the School.

514— Frank MerriwelPs Pupils; or, The Wizards of Water Polo.

515— Dick MerriwelPs Satisfaction: or, Hot Work at Indoor Baseball.

516— Dick MerriwelPs Discernment; or, The Heroism of a Coward.

517— Dick MerriwelPs Friendly Hand; or, The Boy Who Was Saved.

518— Frank MerriwelPs New Boy; or, The Folly of Dale Sparkfair.

519— Frank MerriwelPs Mode ; or. Winning the Confidence of a Wild Lad.

520— Frank MerriwelPs Aids; or, “The Secret Order of Scalp Lifters/’

521— Dick MerriwelPs Visit; or, Hot Times at Farnham Hall.

522— Dick MerriwelPs Retaliation; or, Fardale Against Farnham Hall.

523— Dick MerriwelPs Rival; or, Dale Sparkfair at Fardale.

524— Frank MerriwelPs Young Crew; or, The Mystery of the Boat House.

525— Frank MerriwelPs Fast Nine; or, Champions of the County.

526— Frank MerriwelPs Athletic Field; or, The Great Meet at Bloomfield.

527— Dick MerriwelPs Reprisal; or, The Clash of the Champions.

528— Dick Merriweil Dared; or, The Grapple at Wellsburg.

Price, Five Cents.

For sale by all newsdealers, or sent postpaid by the publishers
upon receipt of price.

,STREET ® SMITH, Publishers, NEW YORK



The Nick Carter Weekly

ISSUED EVERY SATURDAY. HANDSOMEST COLORED COVERS

No other detective library contains stories that are half so inter-
esting® Nick Carter has been all over the world and has had experi-
ence with all kinds of criminals.

That's why, boys, his adventures holds one's interest from cover
to cover* There is no brutality in Nick's make-up— he does not need it
— he uses his wits. Do not fail to get the latest number from your
newsdealer.

PRICE FIVE CENTS PER COPY

For sale by all newsdealers, or sent, by the publishers to any address upon receipt of price in money or postage stamps

HERE ARE THE LATEST TITLES:

477— Captain Satan, the Unknown; or, Nick Carter's 487— The House of Skeletons; or, Nick Carter’s Greatest
Great Mistake. Find.

478— A Wizard of the Highway; or, Nick Carter's Test 483 A Queen of Inferno; or, Nick Carter’s Giant Foes,

of Faith. . , :
479— Abducted in Broad Day; or, Nick Carter's Dupli- 489— '\f['th BQa(;te;spFogy Adversary; or, The Lures of
cate Prisoner. e Bird of Paradise.

480— The Tong of the Tailless Dragon; or, Nick Carters490— Three Times In Peril; or, Nick Carter’s Busiest

Close Shave. Night.

481— The Padlocked Mystery ; or, Nick Carter and the 491— The Gold Lettered Dagger; or, Nick Carter’'s Most
Death Plot Trap. Tragic Case.

482— Dema, the Dangerous; or, Nick Carter's Chase to 492— That Mysterious Affair; or, Chick’'s Wonderful
Paris. Twelve Hours Work.

483— Nick Carter's Murder Problem; or, A Hide-and- 493— A Dead Guardian of Millions; or, Nick Carter Un-
Seek Game with the Dead. covers a Mystery.

484— A Battle Among the Clouds; or, Nick Carter's494— The Mysterious Treasure Hunters; or, Nick Car-
Criminal Client. ter’'s Bargain With a Crook.

485— The Veiled Princess; or, Nick Carter's Secret Ac- 495— The Klondike Bank Puzzle; or, Nick Carter’s Nar-
complishment. row Escape.

486— The Conquest of a Kingdom; or, Nick Carter’'s 496— The “Bad Man” of Nome; or, Nick Carter’'s Hunt
Fight for a Throne. in Alaska.

IF YOU WANT ANY BACK NUMBERS

of our I|brar|es and cannot procure them from newsdealers, they can be obtained from this office direct. Cut out and fill in the follow-

setid it to us with the price of the books you want and we will send them to you by return mail. POSTAGE
STAI\/IPS TAKEN THE SAME AS MORI EY.

STREET & SMITH, Publishers, 79 Seventh Avenue, New YOrk City. e e 190
Gentlemen — Enclosed find............. cents for which please send me :

............ copies of Tip Top

“ * Nick Carter
.............. “ *“ Diamond Dick
....... “ "Buffalo BUI
.......... “ Brave and Bold
.......... .- “ Rough Rider

Name 38Lcot u::u No Town State



IRAIRIRI®IN— <

The Greatest Baseball Story

ever written, by the most popular writer of stories of
athletics in the world, Surf L Standish, will
appear as a serial, commencing in the July number of

The Popular Magazine

for sale at all news stands for ten cents per copy on
June io. The announcement of a new, long story by
Mr. Standish will interest practically every young man
in the United States. Every one who has ever read the
Frank Merriwell stories, every one who is interested in
the least in the great national game of baseball, every one
who likes a story of action and incident in which every
character is real and true to life, is sure to read this
story, which is entitled

“THE ROCKSPUR NINE.”

It is the story of a baseball nine, but above all, it is the
story of a real, human character—a young man with
plenty of good points but with plenty of failings also.
In reading the history of his temptations, of his strug-
gles and final victory, you feel toward him as toward
a comrade and friend. You know, without being
told, that Burt E. Standish can describe a game of
baseball as can no other author. You know that he is
absolutely unequaled in his ability to interest and hold
his readers. This announcement will serve as a friendly
hint to you to secure the copy of The Popular contain-
ing the first instalment in advance. Tens of thousands
are awaiting another long story by Mr. Standish, and
o the edition is sure to be sold out within a short time
0 after its appearance on the news stands.

> THE POPULAR MAGAZINE is the only magazine for young men.
It Is the only magazine which contains NOTHING but STORIES
8 OF ADVENTURE. It is the largest fiction magazine issued. There
are no “articles” in it. no poems, no love stories, nothing butstories
1K of incident and dashing adventure. Itcosts IOc.atany news stand.
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'k STREET A SMITH, PUBLISHERS, MEW YORK
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THE. FAVORITE LIST

OF FIVE-CENT LIBRARIES

MIGHT AND.MAIN

These are stories of the adven-
tures of boys who succeeded in
climbing the ladder of fame by
honest effort. No more inter-
esting tales can be imagined.
Each number is at least one-third
longer than the ordinary five-
cent library.

BUFFALO BILL STORIES

Buffalo Bill is the hero of a
thousand exciting adventures
among the Redskins. These are
given to our boys only in the
Buffalo Bill They are
bound to interest and please you.

Stories.

DIAMOND DICK WEEKLY

The demand for stirring stories
of Western adventure is admir-
ably filled by this library. Every
up-to-date boy ought to read just
how law and order are estab-
lished and maintained on our
Western plains by Diamond Dick,
Bertie, and Handsome Harry.

ROUGH RIDER WEEKLY

Ted Strong was appointed dep-
uty marshal by accident, but he
resolves to use his authority and
rid his ranch of some very tough
bullies. He does it in such a slick
way that everyone calls him
“King of the Wild West” and he
certainly deserves his title.

BOWERY BOY LIBRARY

The adventures of a poor waif
whose only name is “Bowery
Billy.” Billy is the true product
of the streets of New York. No
boy can read the tales of his trials
without imbibing some of that
resource and courage that makes
the character of this homeless boy
stand out so prominently.

BRAVE AND BOLD
1 Every boy who prefers variety
in his reading matter, ought to
be a reader of Brave and Bold.
All these were written by authors
who are past masters in the art
of telling boys’ stories. Every
tale is complete in itself.
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